AGE STRONG BURLINGTON



Action Recommendations from the Burlington Aging Council

- Elevate the contributions of older adults in Burlington.
- Raise issues facing older adults in Burlington and the organizations that serve them.
- Make policy recommendations to the Mayor and City Council to address gaps, needs, and opportunities that impact older adults in Burlington.
- Ensure that the voices of older adults in Burlington are at the forefront of City policy.
- Create and maintain a "Burlington Plan on Aging" to act as a guiding template for City policy and initiatives.

Contents

BURLINGTON AGING COUNCIL Introduction for City Council and the Mayor's Office	2
AGE STRONG BURLINGTON Action Briefing: Priority measures	3
1. Dedicated City staff support that:	3
2. Issue key Proclamations and hosts Special Events	3
3. Create an Official City Resource Site (web based)	4
4. Advance a focused City policy Agenda	4
5. Direct City Departments to Advance or Expand Programming for older adults	5
6. Support a robust Outreach and Engagement Process	5
7. Support new partnerships	5
AGE STRONG BURLINGTON: Vision of an age-friendly city	7
Age Strong Burlington Goals	8
What does an Age Strong Burlington Look Like?	8
Aging and Equity in Burlington	10
BAC PLAN: Objectives & Action Steps for an Age Strong Burlington	13
Action Plan for an Age Strong Burlington	14
SOCIAL CONNECTION AND ENGAGEMENT	
FAMILY CAREGIVER SUPPORT	19
FINANCIAL SECURITY	23
OPTIMAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING	27
HOUSING, TRANSPORTATION, AND COMMUNITY DESIGN	32
BURLINGTON SUPPORT INFRASTRUCTURE FOR THE FUTURE	37
City Positions and Functions	37
Support Tasks and Functions	37
Network of Providers and Partners	38
Burlington Aging Council	38
AGE STRONG VERMONT: How does the Age Strong Burlington Plan fit into the state's plan?	39
APPENDICES – Age Strong Burlington	42
A. Acknowledgements	43
B. City Council Charge Creating the Burlington Aging Council	44
C. Organizations Promoting Equity in Aging	47
D. Detailed State Age Strong objectives and strategies	48
E. BAC interim Actions	64
E.i. HomeShare Vermont Pilot Incentive Program	64
E.ii. Family Caregiver Month 2023 Proclamation	67

BURLINGTON AGING COUNCIL Introduction for City Council and the Mayor's Office

Ageism and Ableism are engrained in our attitudes, our public policies, our institutions, and our infrastructure. They are systemic. Those over 65 years old join a dependent classification akin to those under 18, though much less visible. The Goal for Burlington is one of inclusivity, building an age-friendly community for all. The universal benefit is that improving the conditions of and opportunities for older adults in a community improves the lives of all.

On April 26, 2021 the City Council <u>formally created the Burlington Aging Council</u>, and on May 2nd the Mayor signed the resolution, with the purpose of:

- elevating the contributions of older adults in Burlington;
- raising issues facing older adults in Burlington and the organizations that serve them;
- making policy recommendations to the Mayor and City Council to address gaps, needs, and opportunities that impact older adults in Burlington;
- ensuring that the voices of older adults in Burlington are at the forefront of City policy; and
- creating and maintaining a "Burlington Plan on Aging" to act as a guiding template for City policy and initiatives.

The Action Plans that follow are consolidated around 5 principal areas:

- a. Social Connection and Engagement
- b. Family Caregiver Support
- c. Financial Security
- d. Optimal Health and Wellness
- e. Housing, Transportation and Community Design

The objective in organizing actions is to raise awareness of both needs and opportunities, and to provide guidance on moving Burlington along a conscious path to being a fully Age-Friendly Community. Burlington, as a single entity cannot do everything to ensure that as members of our community age, they are offered opportunities and support that allow them to contribute and have a sense of belonging, as well as provide them with the care and support they need to continue their lives with dignity. The action plans that have been incorporated into this document are not comprehensive, but they are targeted to what the Aging Council believes is possible. The action plans align, as much as possible with the State's Age Strong Plan, and provide a basis for synergy and coordination with the many partners who provide direct services. These action plans are meant to engage our community of all ages to make Burlington a city that works for all. For this to be more than a slogan, the Burlington Aging Council urges the city to make the necessary investments and policy changes needed to advance a clear focus toward an Age-Friendly city.

Symphorien Sikyala, Congolese
Community
Frederick Neu, UVM Center on Aging
Molly Dugan, Cathedral Square
Jane Catton, Age Well Vermont
Kelly Stoddard Poor, AARP-VT
Andrea Viets, Heineberg Senior Center
Alison Miley, Howard Center

Christopher Damiani, GMT Brian Pine, CEDO Barbara Shaw-Dorso, Resident Martha Molpus, Resident Charles J Messing, Resident Lorna Kay, Resident

AGE STRONG BURLINGTON Action Briefing: Priority measures

The Burlington Aging Council addressed its charge by determining that actions needed to simultaneously provide for both self-determination and for necessary safety and protection in this diverse sector of our community. Burlington residents, aged 65 and over, represent approximately 11.6% of the city's population, some 5175 residents, slightly more than the number of those 18 and under. Members of this demographic are all too often lumped in a single class of "seniors, old people, elderly," or some other term that connotes declining capability and need for care, representing a deficit for the community. The story that is not told is that this portion of our community is as diverse as any other group of Burlington citizens in their background, heritage, capabilities and needs. The Council built its approach to building out an action agenda that emphasized both a systemic approach to opportunity and potential contribution, as well as a more coordinated and efficient system of services to meet their diverse needs in coordination with the many partner organizations working with this sector and the state of Vermont with its new Age Strong Vermont plan.

A Summary of Priority Actions for Consideration:

1. Dedicated City staff support that:

- Fills the role of an Older Adult Ombudsperson to coordinate the efforts of the Aging Council and City Departments to:
 - Provide direct service to employers, and work with partners to advance opportunities for training, education, and resources for older workers of all backgrounds.
 - Build Age-Friendly criteria into city employee job descriptions and performance reviews.
 - Provide city staff with adequate training and upskilling to succeed in supporting these efforts, expanding City staffing functions in key city departments (e.g., REIB, CEDO, Planning, DPW, Parks, Recreation & Waterfront).
- Supports functions to advance social connection and engagement, and optimal health and wellbeing across city departments and the coalition of local service organizations in Age Strong Burlington.
- Provides full support for a reinvigorated Burlington Aging Council to continue in its mission to elevate the contributions of older adults in Burlington; raise issues facing older adults in Burlington and the organizations that serve them; support current and address new policy recommendations to the Mayor and City Council to address gaps, needs, and opportunities that impact older adults in Burlington; ensure that the voices of older adults in Burlington are at the forefront of City policy; and maintain and monitor the "Burlington Plan on Aging: Age Strong Burlington," acting as a facilitator for City policy and initiatives, and to advance advocacy at the state level for adequate program resources, and targeted investments at the local level.
- **2. Issue key Proclamations and hosts Special Events** to educate the community, elevating the contributions of and raising issues facing older adults in Burlington, ensuring that the voices of older adults in Burlington are at the forefront of City policy.

- <u>Family Caregiver Awareness</u> Campaign Beginning in November 2024 (Family Caregiver Month).
- National Employ Older Workers Week September.
- Provide a clear public resolution declaring <u>Agism and Ablism as public health</u> threats, and committing Burlington to actively fighting agism and ablism through policy and programs, providing resources and attention needed to enable all community members to enjoy a full and fruitful life, contributing to the greater good, and receiving support as it is needed.
- Create baseline data on key indicators of successful social connection and engagement with all city departments around their programming and work and add it to the City Dashboard.

3. Create an Official City Resource Site (web based)

- City Staff working with the BAC will set up a web-based City Resource site that will include:
 - o a list of family caregiver resources.
 - resources to support older workers and employers seeking to hire and retain older workers.
 - a single point of information access to City Programming that enhances social engagement and connection and advances healthy aging.
 - o resources for older adult housing and transportation information.
 - a Dashboard indicating progress on the Age Strong Burlington Plan with connections to the State's Age Strong Plan progress reports.

4. Advance a focused City policy Agenda

- Review of City Human Resource policies that affect accommodation for employees
 of the city who are family caregivers and report to the Burlington Aging Council with
 recommendations and a timeline for what modifications and enhancements can be
 made to flexibly meet the needs of the city and the employee.
- Through the Library, Burlington Parks & Rec, and other partners expand investment in digital literacy resources specific to the needs of older community members.
 Include alternatives that are culturally appropriate and translated into a variety of languages
- Increase opportunities for Home Share programming in Burlington.
- Direct DPW and BPRW to coordinate planning efforts put in place supportive physical amenities to make Burlington a year-round accessible active city providing opportunity for activity in support of health in line with the WHO's Active Aging Policy Framework.
- Require all new construction to adhere to Universal Design Standards.
- Update PlanBTV: Burlington's Comprehensive Plan (2019) with a focus explicitly including the growing older population. Require PlanBTV to incorporate a comprehensive strategy to prioritize the needs of older adults in elements of community design.
- Build a Policy/Program/Resource Framework to address the specific needs of older adults in the event of another emergency (e.g., pandemic) and to meet the challenge of the ongoing climate emergency as it specifically impacts older adults.

 Assess the status and future need for staffing and funding of efforts needed to expand age friendly infrastructure and design efforts across all city departments.

5. Direct City Departments to Advance or Expand Programming for older adults

- Evaluate and provide additional funding to continue and expand the CEDO/Age Well pilot to train / develop PCAs to increase workforce for in home supports/Personal and Home Health Aides to increase this critical and skilled workforce in providing services in home and institutional settings.
- City departments that make use of national service programs (e.g., AmeriCorps) will also make use of national service programs for older adults (e.g., AmeriCorps Senior). Determine if these programs can also fulfill some of the functions required to support the future work of the Aging Council.
- Provide incentives to fill the gaps with volunteer and assisted ride programs.
- Expand the 50+ Programming of Burlington Parks, Recreation, and Waterfront
 Department to ensure that all older adults can access a variety of affordable
 opportunities for exercise within an inclusive environment. Align planning with the
 state's comprehensive physical activity plan, and provide evidence-based physical
 activity and strength training programs to promote positive health outcomes.
- Build on the success of the CORE Adult Center (run by Burlington Parks, Recreation, and Waterfront Department) and engage partners to support the development of a part-time care facility in Burlington to assist older adults with higher intensity care needs (Adult daycare) and provide respite to family caregivers.
- Expand funding for and promotion of the Housing Access Modifications program at CEDO.

6. Support a robust Outreach and Engagement Process

- Allocate funding to support the education of the BIPOC and New American advocates and associations on family caregiving practices and supports. Develop multilingual resources for Burlington residents, and support training and education for service providers to better understand and support the variety of cultures of caregiving in our community.
- Fund a Marketing Campaign to highlight older worker experiences and employer success stories and narratives.
- Work with GMT to increase usage of public transportation, with special attention to the needs of older adults.
- Conduct a comprehensive Needs Assessment, with targeted emphasis on understanding the needs of the older adults, including BIPOC and New American communities, addressing technology access, affordability, and supports focused on infrastructure, capabilities, training/education, path to 6G.

7. Support new partnerships

 Work with GMT, DPW, and other relevant agencies on processes and funding needed to support a standardized bus stop amenity plan that addresses winter maintenance. Apply a similar process to handicapped parking spaces.

- Direct City Departments, such as the Police Department to pursue partnerships with community organizations (e.g., UVMMC Emergency Department) to identify older individuals at risk of experiencing homelessness (or experiencing homelessness) so that they can more effectively connected with resources.
- Collaborate with and include diverse social and cultural groups to ensure inclusion of all older residents.
- Support GMT staffing and resource needs to accomplish this. Work with GMT to
 ensure that the fare structure is transparent and understandable to riders, and that it
 considers the needs of older riders in terms of access, comfort, and
 AFFORDABILITY.
- Build a Technology for Connection Initiative for older adults, based on a community needs assessment. Identify and secure funding for technology infrastructure and access. Collaborate with partner groups to expand and standardize the use of inhome technology to help older adults age in place.
- Promote the newly adopted BTV Neighborhood Code to increase opportunities for middle housing with an emphasis on accessibility and affordability for older adults.
- Increase collaboration between city departments (e.g., Fletcher Free Library and Parks and Recreation) to collaborate with community partners to expand the accessibility to and participation in volunteer programs, especially those that offer additional support and assistance to help older adults stay in their homes. Provide focus on outreach to local BIPOC, New American, LGBTQ+, and other groups to promote volunteer information and opportunities within these groups.
- Support the expansion of existing Burlington programs that work to connect housing, health care, and social supports for aging residents, with an emphasis on broadening the provision of diverse types of housing options/situations depending on level of independence.
- Expand the supply of affordable age-specific housing options. Work with housing organizations to increase affordable and accessible assisted living opportunities. Collaborate with developers and partners to create opportunities to provide affordable dementia-focused housing.

AGE STRONG BURLINGTON: Vision of an age-friendly city

Burlington Aging Council

Mission: To understand the opportunities and challenges facing all older community members, and to recommend policies and programs that respect and empower all older Burlington community members, to ensure and expand their quality of life.

Age Friendly Burlington

An Age Friendly Burlington will balance offering and enhancing self-determination and self-actualization with an infrastructure for safety and protection.

- Self Determination will be at the core of a coordinated and efficient system of opportunity. Older
 residents bring years of experience, wisdom, and energy to their lives and communities. They are an
 asset to the community and pathways to afford them opportunity to contribute to the social, civic, and
 economic fabric of the community should be enhanced, and they should be actively engaged as
 workers, volunteers, and leaders.
- Safety and Protection will be at the heart of a coordinated, efficient, and self-evident system of services. Older residents can benefit from a system of services, supports, and protections, that is coordinated, equitable, and efficient, promoting choice, flexibility, and creativity. The system should be easy for individual and families to access and navigate, including as it relates to the major transitions of care.

Burlington Aging Council Whatever services, supports, and protections Mission: To understand the opportunities and challenges facing all older community are offered, older residents in Burlington members, and to recommend policies and programs that respect and empower all deserve dignity and respect and must be at the older Burlington community members, to ensure and expand their quality of life. time of all decisions affecting their lives. Self-Determination Safety and Protection dinated and Efficient System of Opportunity: Olds residents large Snated and Efficient System of Services: Ottor residents a for individual and families to access and navigate, including as it relates to t Financial Security Older Residents should be able to receive an adequate income and maintain assets for a resonable Optimal Health and Social Connection and Housing, Transportation, **Family Caregiver** Burlington chould be designed, coned, and built to support the builth, safety, and independence of older residents, with affordable, should be able to seek and maintain employment without feer of discrimination and with any treefied accommodations. Members from consumer and emotional, and spiritual health for social consectedness, including work, including work, including learning, clvic ingagement, arts, culture, and broadband access and other technologies. Older Residents should be respected, valued, and supported. Family caregivers of all ages should have affordable access to exercise, counteling, and good nutrition should be both are critical to our local economies and their contributions should be should also be able to retire after a lifetime of work, if they so choose, without fear of poverty competent, and high-quality care should be provided at all

The Burlington Aging Council built a **plan of action** for the City around five core areas: Social Connection and Engagement; Family Caregiver Support; Financial Security; Optimal Health and Wellness; Housing, Transportation and Community Design.

Age Strong Burlington Goals

Social Connection and Engagement

Older Residents will be free from isolation and loneliness, with affordable and accessible opportunities for social connectedness, including work, volunteering, lifelong learning, civic engagement, arts, culture, and broadband access and other technologies. Older Residents are critical to our local communities and their contributions are valued by all.

Family Caregiver Support

Family caregivers are fundamental to supporting the health and well-being of older Vermonters, and their hard work and contributions are respected, valued, and supported. Family caregivers of all ages should have affordable access to education, training, counseling, respite, and support that is both coordinated and efficient.

Financial Security

Older Residents will receive an adequate income and maintain assets for a reasonable quality of life as they age. They can seek and maintain employment without fear of discrimination and with any needed accommodations. Mechanisms are in place to protect from consumer and financial fraud. Older Residents can retire after a lifetime of work, if they so choose, without fear of poverty and isolation.

Housing, Transportation, and Community Design

Burlington is designed, zoned, and built to support the health, safety, and independence of older residents, with affordable, accessible, appropriate, safe, and service-enriched housing, transportation, and community support options that allow them to age in a variety of settings along the continuum of care and that foster engagement in community life.

Optimal Health and Wellness

Older Residents receive, without discrimination, optimal physical, dental, mental, emotional, and spiritual health through the end of their lives. Holistic options for health, exercise, counseling, and good nutrition should be both affordable and accessible. Access to coordinated, competent, and high-quality care is provided at all levels and in all settings.

What does an Age Strong Burlington Look Like?

Burlington's population, aged 65 and over, represents approximately 11.6% of the city's population, some 5175 residents, slightly more than the number of those 18 and under. Members of this demographic are all too often lumped in a single class of seniors, older adults, old people, elderly, or some other term that connotes declining capability and need for care. They are a diverse population requiring a multifaceted city strategy to ensure that they prosper, have opportunities to contribute, and feel safe and assured of services to support them as they age.

Asset based thinking is not often applied to a community's older population. As in the recent series in Seven Days (starting March 7, 2024,

https://www.sevendaysvt.com/news/getting-on-an-aging-population-is-transforming-vermonts-schools-workplaces-and-communities-40368495) an aging population is related to a host of inter-related and seeming insurmountable problems, from economic stagnation to lack of safe housing and adequate care. While these are critical issues that need to be addressed, they have roots that extend beyond the narrow view of aging populations and negate our ability to see the large number of community members, aged 65+, as real and potential assets (just as we do with those members of our population under 18).

For example, suppose that just 22% of Burlington residents, 65+, are in the labor force, that is 1138 workers. How many businesses would be shut down without those workers? We don't have the numbers of those who are also business owners, or independently employed, full or part time. Nor do we have solid numbers on what percentage of the volunteer work force is 65+, powering our rich nonprofit sector in arts, recreation, social services, and education, but we know it is significant. We cannot measure the impact because we have not collected the data. The data we do have, and it is important, is focused on the need for services, care, and special housing. If that is the only lens, we will continue to move forward in a deficit-based approach to our aging population.

The Burlington Aging Council is recommending taking a new and activist approach to addressing our aging population, like the perspective we take with the members of our community under 18. There are special needs, structures, supports, and investments needed, but they are full of potential. We don't know what that potential is, but we invest in it willingly. The potential of the members of our community, 65+, (and that community is growing in numbers) is largely untapped. As with all our citizens we want to create the conditions that increase good health outcomes, provide secure and appropriate shelter, ensure food security, and create opportunity for personal fulfillment in activities, both for personal and professional growth. Given the right conditions and incentives how many more would join the formal workforce, would volunteer hours, would apply to serve on commissions and boards and increase their contribution to the vitality of our community?

Aging Vermonters

In 2021 about 133,173 Vermonters were 65 years or older, or about 20.6% of all Vermonters.

- In 2021 22.0% of 65+ Vermonters were in the labor force.
- The average income/earnings for the 65+ population in Vermont in 2021 was about \$59,180.
- 9.1% of Vermonters 65 years or older were at or below the poverty level in 2021.
- 18.7% of Vermonters 65 or older rent their home, with a median gross rent of \$889 in 2021.
- 81.3% of 65+ VT'ers own their home, with median monthly costs of about \$714 (those without a

mortgage).

 29.2% of Vermonters over 65 years of age have a disability

Vermont State Data Center Source: 2011 & 2021 American Community Survey

https://www.healthvermont.gov/sites/default/files/document/Brain%20Health%20-%20Older%20Vermonters%20Census% 20Brief.pdf Those unanswered questions, as well as the necessary initiatives covered in this Action Plan, are at the heart of what the Burlington Aging Council sees as its future mission in supporting Burlington as a model Age-Friendly Community.

Burlington's drive to be an Age-Friendly Community is a drive toward social justice. It is time to end Ageism once and for all in our community.

Aging is not the problem, but the way we think and talk about aging is. Most people, without even thinking about it, use language that describes aging as a negative experience. Unfortunately, this negative thinking and language contributes to "Ageism" in our culture, which is a stereotyping or discrimination of a person or group of people because of their age. This is a serious challenge in our culture and communities, manifested in the unconscious thoughts we have, the actions we take, and the policies, institutions, and systems we create.

Ageism negatively impacts Vermonters' health and well-being. It prevents people from seeking support they may need or gaining employment they are more than qualified for. It contributes to errors in the healthcare system. It leads to higher rates of chronic illness and morbidity. Older adults who have a negative view of aging have a life expectancy of 7.5 years less than older adults who have a positive view of aging (Breaking the Age Code by Becca Levy, 2022). Ageism also intersects with other forms of discrimination such as racism, quietly exacerbating inequities faced by people of color, LGBTQ+, speakers of other languages, those who are low income, etc.

-- Age Strong Vermont Plan - February 2024 page 8

Aging and Equity in Burlington

Burlington's vision of equity in aging is to transform every person's older years into their golden years. To achieve this vision, the City of Burlington, through the work of the Burlington Aging Council (BAC) works to ensure that all residents have access to opportunities and services to age how and where we choose - regardless of age, disability, race, ethnicity, immigration status, religion/faith, income, geography, sexual orientation, gender identity, language, or family status. The BAC aging plan for the City of Burlington, through programs and partnerships will accomplish:

- 1. Engagement of all older adults in the civic life of the city with the expressed purpose of achieving the goals of an Age-Friendly Community.
- 2. Recognition of the wide range of capacities and resources among older people.
- 3. Expansion of culturally relevant and accessible services to older adults, people with disabilities, caregivers, and families.
- 4. Addressing health and other inequities that can become cumulative as we age.
- 5. Anticipating and responding flexibly to ageing-related needs and preferences and respecting older person's decisions and lifestyle choices.

The commonly-held view that old age is a period of declining faculties that is natural and inevitable is therefore not wholly accurate and has hidden preventable inequalities in the quality of life of older people. Importantly, the causal role of social conditions in the great variations in the quality of life of older individuals

within a country – as well as across countries – raises profound questions of social justice and social action. (Venkatapuram S, Ehni HJ, Saxena A. <u>Equity and healthy ageing</u>. Bull World Health Organ. 2017)

The community we build, the infrastructure we improve, the attitudes and institutionalized biases we counter, or change are choices we make to ensure that as we age in our community we are able to maintain functional abilities, including maintaining roles and holding on to relationships, and enjoying the possibility of autonomy, pleasure, personal growth, and security. Our ability to thrive is not dependent on individual attributes and capacities alone. Maintaining our health and capacities as we age is greatly dependent on how we build out the community conditions that we have control over. There is no reason to assume that functional abilities and personal health have to decline in direct relationship with age.

Age Strong Burlington Strategies and Resources:

Engage with the work of <u>8 80 Cities</u> and adopt their theme: We are guided by the simple but powerful idea that if everything we do in our cities is great for an 8-year-old and an 80-year-old, then it will be better for all people.

Engage with <u>The National Civic League's Enhancing the Equity and Inclusiveness of Agefriendly Initiatives</u>, especially their focus on improved outreach to and engagement with ethnically and racially diverse older adult residents, who may not traditionally engage with government-driven community programs for older adults.

Engage with the work of The <u>Equity in Aging Collaborative</u> will address issues of poverty among older adults who have and continue to face inequities across their lifetimes. We will share stories of the impact of poverty on women, communities of color, LGBTQ+ individuals, low-income, and rural older adults. The Collaborative is building on 15 years of experience with the Elder Economic Security Standard™ Index, or <u>Elder Index</u> that may have applications for tracking progress in Burlington and Vermont.

Pathways for Burlington

Following the WHO <u>Age-Friendly World initiative</u>, Burlington's efforts should be united in building "age-friendly environments (such as in the home, community) to foster healthy and active aging by building and maintaining intrinsic capacity across the life course and enabling greater functional ability in someone with a given level of capacity" In practical terms, age-friendly environments are free from physical and social barriers and supported by policies, systems, services, products and technologies that:

- promote health and build and maintain physical and mental capacity across the life course; and
- enable people, even when experiencing capacity loss, to continue to do the things they value.

The BAC Age Strong Burlington Action Plan is a holistic approach to growing age-friendly practices help build older peoples abilities to meet their basic needs; learn, grow and make decisions; be mobile; build and maintain relationships; and contribute.

The AARP <u>Network of Age-Friendly States and Communities</u> is one touchstone to identify sister cities that Burlington can use to benchmark our efforts and progress. The program advances efforts to help people live easily and comfortably in their homes and communities as they age. Older adults are encouraged to take a more active role in their communities and have their voices heard. Initiatives focus on areas such as housing, caregiving, community engagement, volunteering, social inclusion and combating isolation among older citizens.

For national resources see Appendix C.

BAC PLAN: Objectives & Action Steps for an Age Strong Burlington

Specific Action Plans for the five targeted goals follow.

Social Connection and Engagement

Older Residents will be free from isolation and loneliness, with affordable and accessible opportunities for social connectedness, including work, volunteering, lifelong learning, civic engagement, arts, culture, and broadband access and other technologies. Older Residents are critical to our local communities and their contributions are valued by all.

Family Caregiver Support

Family caregivers are fundamental to supporting the health and well-being of older Vermonters, and their hard work and contributions are respected, valued, and supported. Family caregivers of all ages should have affordable access to education, training, counseling, respite, and support that is both coordinated and efficient.

Financial Security

Older Residents will receive an adequate income and maintain assets for a reasonable quality of life as they age. They can seek and maintain employment without fear of discrimination and with any needed accommodations. Mechanisms are in place to protect from consumer and financial fraud. Older Residents can retire after a lifetime of work, if they so choose, without fear of poverty and isolation.

Housing, Transportation, and Community Design

Burlington is designed, zoned, and built to support the health, safety, and independence of older residents, with affordable, accessible, appropriate, safe, and service-enriched housing, transportation, and community support options that allow them to age in a variety of settings along the continuum of care and that foster engagement in community life.

Optimal Health and Wellness

Older Residents receive, without discrimination, optimal physical, dental, mental, emotional, and spiritual health through the end of their lives. Holistic options for health, exercise, counseling, and good nutrition should be both affordable and accessible. Access to coordinated, competent, and high-quality care is provided at all levels and in all settings.

Action Plan for an Age Strong Burlington SOCIAL CONNECTION AND ENGAGEMENT

As an Age-Friendly Community, in Burlington:

Older Residents should be free from isolation and loneliness, with affordable and accessible opportunities in their communities for social connectedness, including work, volunteering, lifelong learning, civic engagement, leisure activities, arts, culture, and broadband access and other technologies. Older residents are critical to our local communities and their contributions are valued by all.

Vermont is ranked 20th for risk of social isolation in America's Health Rankings Senior Report (composite of poverty; living alone; divorced, separated or widowed; never married; disability; and independent living difficulty). According to US Census data (ACS 2018): 71,000 (42%) of Vermonters age 60+ are not married (divorced, separated, widowed or never married); 48,000 (28%) have a disability; 43,000 (25%) live alone in community; 18,000 (11%) live below the federal poverty level; 28,000 (28%) live below 200% FPL.

Social Isolation is a public health concern. It is significantly associated with increased mortality from all causes. The magnitude of health risks associated with social isolation and loneliness are equivalent to smoking and obesity. Social connection is associated with a 50% reduced risk of early death.

Moving toward an Age-Friendly Community, in Burlington:

- ✓ Burlington residents ages 65+ receive the social and emotional support they need, and each year there is a decreasing number who feel socially isolated, exhibit elevated levels of stress, report poor physical health, are unhoused or inadequately house, are food insecure, and for whom mobility is compromised.
- ✓ Mobility options (e.g., GMT, NeighborRides, CarShare) report increased usage by older residents.
- ✓ The proportion of older adults engaging in regular, year-round, physical exercise shows annual increases.
- ✓ Calculate neighborhood walkability and transit scores around needs and uses of older adults living in the city, demonstrating annual increases in scores.
- ✓ Burlington's network of viable senior centers, and other local community institutions such as libraries and churches offer quality and equitable programming for older adults.
- ✓ Older adults in Burlington increasingly indicate that they have the resources and information they need to age well in the city.
- ✓ Older adults in Burlington residents have equitable access to the highest level of affordable high-speed internet connectivity of any small city in the country, enabling them to have the ability to effectively communicate, receive services, engage as citizens, access life-long learning opportunities as well as employment opportunities via technological engagement.
- ✓ Older adults in Burlington seeking to volunteer within their communities will have the means to engage with such opportunities accessibly and inclusively.
- ✓ Older adults in Burlington reliably and safely utilize volunteer services to seek assistance in areas such as day-to-day home maintenance and activities of daily living, which allow them to age in place.
- ✓ Intergenerational engagement opportunities abound with the support of the City's schools and other institutions.

Actions: City Council & The Mayor's Office

- 1. Support a Social Connection and Engagement function across city departments and the coalition of local service organizations to:
 - a. Create baseline data on key indicators of successful social connection and engagement.
 - b. Create greater efficiency and increase resources available across city departments that provide programs and infrastructure for social connection and engagement.
 - c. Collaborate with and include diverse social and cultural groups to ensure inclusion of all older residents.
- 2. Update PlanBTV: Burlington's Comprehensive Plan (2019) <u>www.burlingtonvt.gov/planbtv</u> with a focus explicitly including the growing older population.
- 3. Produce a Burlington-specific resource book for healthy aging and social inclusion.
- 4. Build a Policy/Program/Resource Framework to address the specific needs of older adults in the event of another emergency (e.g., pandemic) and to meet the challenge of the ongoing climate emergency as it specifically impacts older adults.
- 5. Build a *Technology for Connection Initiative* for older adults in Burlington starting with a comprehensive Needs Assessment, with targeted emphasis on understanding the needs of the older Burlington residents, including BIPOC and New American communities, addressing technology access, affordability, and supports focused on infrastructure, capabilities, training/education, path to 6G. Identify and secure funding for technology infrastructure and access. Collaborate with partner groups to expand and standardize the use of in-home technology to help older adults age in place (https://www.nia.nih.gov/news/nih-initiative-tests-home-technology-help-older-adults-age-place) to support health, safety, and caregiving.
- 6. Increase collaboration between city departments (e.g., Fletcher Free Library and Parks and Recreation) to collaborate with community partners to expand the accessibility to and participation in volunteer programs, especially those that offer additional support and assistance to help older adults stay in their homes. Provide focus on outreach to local BIPOC, New American, LGBTQ+, and other groups to promote volunteer information and opportunities within these groups.

Summary of Key Investments:

- Dedicated funding from the city to support:
 - A Social Connection and Engagement function across city departments
 - Planner and Outreach functions to update PlanBTV; create a targeted emergency response framework; map out particular issues and approaches to older adults and the climate emergency.
 - Research, compilation, and update of an Aging Resource Guide (electronic and print on demand) with translation into key languages.
 - Technology of Connection Initiative staffing, technology, infrastructure, and subsidies to support universal access.
 - Library and Parks and Recreation Departments staff to increase programming and support volunteerism.
- City specific Data and Tracking capabilities to identify the need and track impact of investments and interventions.

Actions: Burlington Aging Council and Age-Friendly Organizational Network (including City Departments) with Staffing Support

- Support development of baseline data on key indicators of successful social connection and engagement and link this data to the city and private investment in programs and infrastructure.
 - a. Convene Stakeholders regularly to support a continuous assessment addressing barriers and opportunities to advance a framework into action for Burlington in coordination with the local and regional efforts of the Stakeholders, and the State aging plan, Age Strong Vermont.
 - b. Request that DAIL be proactive with their consultants to have a way to parse out service area specific data to help localities home in on specific groups of older adults.
 - c. Collaborate with and include diverse social and cultural groups to ensure inclusion of all older adults in Burlington in the development and provision of social connection and engagement resources.
- 2. Support the updating <u>PlanBTV</u>, Burlington's Comprehensive Plan (2019) with a focus explicitly including the growing older population. Expand the limited reference in the plan with clear metrics to determine how Burlington is achieving the goals set. Advocate for a similar update of the Regional ECOS Plan.
- 3. Support the production of a Burlington-specific resource book for healthy aging and social inclusion and ensure direct comprehensive distribution and access (physical copies and online access, available in multiple languages). Tie the distribution of the resources to polling for feedback on individual and collective attributes of social connection and engagement. Include specific dimensions for individuals facing Alzheimer's and dementia to better inform them and their caregivers about healthy aging social inclusion for this population, with specific attention to <u>utilizing social connection as a preventative strategy</u> for symptoms of cognitive decline.
- 4. Support city planning to provide a framework for a future emergency (e.g., pandemic) response that will include methods to sustain community connection and engagement and reduce isolation. Coordinate an annual review with key stakeholders and city departments to keep current. Add to resources already available, https://www.fema.gov/fact-sheet/seniors-prepare-now-emergency and YouTube videos and Podcasts for older adults and Emergency Prep and a How to guide which could be accessed/replicated. E.g. https://www.fema.gov/about/news-multimedia/podcast, and at Ready.gov, https://www.ready.gov/.
- 5. Support city planning to specifically address the needs of the older adult population considering the <u>Climate Emergency</u>, as older adults face additional challenges as a result of their health or financial conditions, and they are far more likely to die or be adversely impacted in climate-fueled disasters.
- 6. Support a *Technology for Connection Initiative* for older adults living in Burlington.
 - a. Conduct a comprehensive Needs Assessment to understand the needs of the older Burlington residents, including BIPOC and New American communities, addressing technology access, affordability, and supports focused on infrastructure, capabilities, training/education, path to 6G.
 - b. Implement strategies on how to increase technology access among older BIPOC and New American adults using culturally appropriate education techniques. Explore ongoing technology training and education for older adults to promote accessibility, including collaborations with local tech centers, universities/colleges, and libraries. Identify and involve Businesses already having a record of recruiting, training, and employing older workers.
 - c. Promote the <u>Vermont Assistive Technology Program</u>, offering free supports and hardware assessments.
 - d. Expand safety and security access by collaborating with companies to offer older adults access to security systems at a low cost, such as "Ring app" on the iPhone or other security systems for their home.

- e. Work with partner groups to expand and standardize the use of in-home technology to help older adults age in place (https://www.nia.nih.gov/news/nih-initiative-tests-home-technology-help-older-adults-age-place) to support health, safety, and caregiving.
- 7. Work with Age Well, United Way, and the Senior Centers to expand the accessibility to and participation within volunteer programs. Additionally, conduct work with local community partners, such as senior centers and health care providers, to increase awareness of Age Well's volunteer resource helpline for those in need of additional support staying in their homes.
 - a. Collaboration with Fletcher Free Library and local senior centers to provide in-print resources on Age Well and United Way volunteer programs and helpline one pager, FAQ sheet, how to apply information.
 - b. Screenings of volunteer informational videos at local community centers (e.g., Fletcher Free, Heineberg) to better inform community members about how to become involved in volunteering with Age Well.
 - c. Work with local BIPOC, New American, LGBTQ+, and other groups to promote volunteer information and opportunities within these groups.
- 8. Review strategies and evidence-based programs from other similar communities that work to provide affordable and sufficient mobility options for older residents for all their needs.
- 9. Draw on existing data sources to build a thorough understanding of where our residents over the age of sixty-five are living and what kind of conditions they are living in. Maintain an active database to understand the location and situation of older residents.
 - a. Utilize data and reporting materials from Feeding Chittenden and Meals on Wheels to determine the areas of Burlington most heavily populated by older residents, and thus could best utilize social connection programs targeted towards the aging population.
 - b. Address how different demographic trends and clusters can inform where diverse types and varieties of resources should be promoted to increase use.

Advancing equity and inclusion:

- Engage those groups serving needs of specific groups (e.g., Vermont Association for the Blind and Visually Impaired (https://www.vabvi.org/); Vermont Center for Independent Living (https://vcil.org/)), Veteran's organizations.
- Collaborate with local New American and BIPOC community groups to address cultural and social norms that may make social connection and engagement needs different for those in certain cultural groups. Develop culturally informed and translated resources to encompass Burlington's diverse cultural and ethnic groups.
- Recognize the additional challenges that those with Alzheimer's, dementia, and other forms
 of cognitive decline may see in acquiring resources to promote social connection and
 engagement. Consult with the Alzheimer's Association of Vermont to identify the best
 strategies and resources.

We measure progress as we:

- Develop and track reliable Burlington specific data on needs of, participation by, and programming for older adults.
- Increase participation in programming and use of facilities for social engagement (e.g., Heineberg, Fletcher Free, Parks and Recreation, Age Well).
- Increase in the number of volunteers/applications and usage of helpline within Age Well volunteer services program, and United Way volunteer programs (RSVP and Foster Grandparent programs)
- Develop programming and attract participants in the *Technology for Connection Initiative* programs.

- Track website hits and physical copy distribution numbers for Burlington-specific resource book.
- Increased programming for and participation of older adult BIPOC and New American populations.
- Increase in neighborhood walkability and transit scores.



Age Strong Burlington Action Plan

FAMILY CAREGIVER SUPPORT

As an Age-Friendly Community, in Burlington:

The essential role of family caregivers is recognized, supported, and valued in our community, in both the public and private sectors. Family caregivers have easy access to culturally appropriate education, resources, and support, particularly for the care of seniors living with various forms of dementia. Employers have access to education and resources to provide accommodations for employees to help balance the needs of work with the needs of older family members. Health care providers recognize and care for the unique needs of family caregivers. Support services in the city and region are robust and sustainable providing respite for family caregivers.

We acknowledge that family caregivers provide the preponderance of care for those seniors who need assistance with daily care. According to the AARP Public Policy Institute, Vermont's 70,000 family caregivers provide approximately \$1.23 billion in unpaid care annually (March 2023). In addition to being unpaid, family caregivers report feeling isolated, needing more support/connection from peers and experts, and needing help balancing the demands of their workplace and the needs of their older family member, and often the needs of their own children as well. In Burlington this situation is made visible by the community's commitment to providing necessary support that results in better health outcomes for those in need, those caring for them, and for the economic vitality of the city as those who are employed and serve as family caregivers remain productive and supportive in their jobs at home and work.

Moving toward an Age-Friendly Community, in Burlington:

- ✓ All residents have easy access to learn about family caregivers and the outsized role they play in the care of our community's older adults.
- ✓ Service providers, community partners, employers and family caregivers work in concert with the City of Burlington developing support groups for caregivers and Memory Cafes to help support the many forms that caregiving takes in our community.
- ✓ Service providers, community partners, employers and family caregivers create an easily accessible, age friendly, comprehensive collection of resources and a mechanism to collaborate with community partners to assure distribution/access for family caregivers.
- ✓ The City of Burlington creates policies to accommodate the needs of employees of the city who are caregivers. Provide these as a model that other employers in the city can follow. Employers that follow these policies are recognized for their contributions to making Burlington a more Age-Friendly City.
- ✓ The City of Burlington collaborates with partners to increase the workforce for in-home support / Personal and Home Health Aides who can make a significant difference in respite/caregiver support needs.

Actions: City Council & The Mayor's Office

- 1. **Family Caregiver Awareness Campaign** Beginning in November 2024 (Family Caregiver Month). Provide a Proclamation with press release (see 2024 proclamation).
- 2. City Staff working with the BAC on Age-Friendly City efforts will compile a list of family caregiver resources on an **age-friendly webpage** on the City of Burlington website. The webpage will serve as a clearinghouse with links to local and state resources. Lists and links will be checked and updated as needed monthly. Print and translated alternatives with monthly updates will also be available with provision in accessible locations.
- 3. Review of City Human Resource policies that affect accommodation for employees of the city who are family caregivers and report to the Burlington Aging Council with recommendations and a timeline for what modifications and enhancements can be made to flexibly meet the needs of the city and the employee. The recommended changes and how the changes support family caregivers will be reported out and shared with employers in the city to encourage them to develop similar flexible policies. The definition of family caregivers will be all-encompassing to include the diversity in familial structures and living situations across all cultures.
- 4. Evaluate and provide additional funding to continue and expand the CEDO/Age Well pilot to train / develop PCAs to increase workforce for in home supports/Personal and Home Health Aides to increase this critical and skilled workforce in providing services in home and institutional settings.
- 5. Allocate funding to support the education of the BIPOC and New American advocates and associations on family caregiving practices and supports. Develop multilingual resources for Burlington residents, and support training and education for service providers to better understand and support the variety of cultures of caregiving in our community, fostering understanding and respect for practices and values that may be different from the dominant culture.

Summary of Key Investments:

- Funding from the City of Burlington for
 - Production and airing of PSAs.
 - o Printed material in English, Braille and languages reflective of our community members
 - City staffing to develop and maintain an Age Friendly City Web site/page and provide facilitation/coordination to support BAC work with its partners.
 - Additional staffing (translators, graduate intern, outreach facilitation) to produce and maintain information for the website, develop public education materials (translated) and professional training and guidance materials, conduct comprehensive community outreach to assess need and evaluate impact.
 - Expanding PCA training and education.
 - City specific Data and Tracking capabilities to identify the need and track the impact of investments and interventions.
- Collaboration of Fletcher Free Library and Parks and Recreation for space and programming support for caregiver education, support groups, and Memory Cafes.
- Potential policy changes to incorporate caregiver accommodation for city employees, with attention to culturally appropriate caregiving and housing arrangements, with associated increased benefit costs.

Actions: Burlington Aging Council and Age-Friendly Organizational Network (including City Departments) with Staffing Support

- 1. Family Caregiver Awareness Campaign Beginning in November 2024 (Family Caregiver Month)
 - a. Coordinate annual Proclamation from Mayor/City Council with press release (see 2024 proclamation).
 - b. PSAs highlighting Family Caregivers, available resources, and support (e.g., CARERS, Vermont Alzheimer's Association Chapter, Age Well) on Radio, TV, social media.
 - c. Partner with Vermont Public and "Across the Fence" for longer form stories and public awareness pieces.
- The Age-Friendly City website will host a list of family caregiver resources. This clearinghouse will host links to local and state resources. Lists and links will be checked and updated as needed monthly. Print and translated alternatives with monthly updates will also be available with provision in accessible locations.
- 3. The review of City Human Resource policies, the recommended changes, an evaluation of how the changes support employees of the city who act as family caregivers will be reported out and shared with employers in the city to encourage them to develop similar flexible policies. Information and resources from the AARP Employer Pledge Program will be used as a guide (https://www.aarp.org/work/employer-pledge-companies/). The definition of family caregivers will be all-encompassing to include the diversity in familial structures and living situations across all cultures.
- 4. Support the evaluation of the **CEDO/Age Well pilot to train / develop PCAs** to increase workforce for in home support/Personal and Home Health Aides. Research additional models and funding to support ongoing workforce expansion to meet local needs, and to coordinate with other programs in the state.
- 5. In partnership with BIPOC and New American advocates and associations, and in cooperation with REIB, support the development and distribution of resources for the education of the BIPOC and New American advocates and associations on family caregiving practices and supports, increasing community knowledge on the variety of cultures of caregiving in our community, fostering understanding and respect for practices and values that may be different from the dominant culture.
- 4. Provide support for **libraries as "third spaces" for the support of family caregivers** and their family members. The UVM Center on Aging will assist in the development of the "third space" concept with Fletcher Free Library, Parks & Recreation, senior centers, community centers, and wellness centers. In addition to support networks, such "third spaces" can be used for educational offering and opportunities for family caregivers on relevant topics. This will include working with local BIPOC, New American, LGBTQ+, and other groups to implement culturally informed third spaces for caregivers of various backgrounds.
- 5. Increase the awareness of opportunities and resources to provide respite to caregivers, such as Age Well's volunteer services hotline. Respite Volunteer programming at Age Well (through an innovative pilot with DAIL) is training more people to become "Respite Squad Volunteers" who provide needed support to caregivers. This should be leveraged further and advanced. Additionally, work with UVMMC to increase usage of system navigators to increase awareness about opportunities for respite included within the healthcare systems, such as Medicare and Medicaid "prescriptions" for respite among family caregivers. Evaluate innovations such as Trualta (an online evidence-based caregiver support platform) with Stakeholders to determine if this is effective support for local caregivers.

- 6. Examine the success and failure of **Adult Day Services** in Vermont and beyond to give respite opportunities to family caregivers. Work with other state partners in developing strategies to create sustainable day care and programming for seniors who require constant supervision.
- 7. In partnership with The University of Vermont Health Network Medical Group and the Vermont Medical Association, develop a campaign to heighten the awareness among medical professionals of the role of family caregivers and the importance of integrating these caregivers in the Community Health Team. The Vermont Blueprint for Health (2022) and Community Health Needs Assessment (2022) make no mention of family caregivers as integral members of the team providing care. This same partnership will connect with AHS and UVMMC Community Health Improvement to request family caregivers be represented in future Blueprint revisions and Community Health Needs Assessments.

We measure progress as we:

- Increase the percentage of family care partners who report knowing about respite options and how to access them. (State goal by 2028 is to increase to 80%).
- Reduce the number of family care partners reporting a negative impact on their financial security due to caregiving. (State goal is to reduce from 32% to 10%).
- Increase usage of the Burlington's Age Friendly City Family Caregiver Web pages and resources.
- Conduct specific surveying and engagement with the community of caregivers to assess the need and impact of programming.
- Work with local employers to establish metrics for increased employee productivity when provided with caregiver supports.
- Coordinate with <u>Dementia Family Caregiver Center</u>, <u>Alzheimer's Association of Vermont</u>, Age Well, AARP, UVM Center on Aging, local BIPOC and New American service groups, and local senior centers to build a framework for local data gathering and impact tracking.
- Increase the number of people served by support groups, Memory Cafes and educational events.

Action Plan for an Age Strong Burlington

FINANCIAL SECURITY

As an Age-Friendly Community, in Burlington:

Older residents should be able to receive an adequate income and maintain assets for a reasonable quality of life as they age. They should be able to seek and maintain employment without fear of discrimination and with any needed accommodations. Mechanisms should be in place to protect older residents from consumer and financial fraud. Older residents should also be able to retire after a lifetime of work, if they choose, without fear of poverty and isolation.

Being financially secure is closely correlated to the health and well-being of individuals, family and a community. We know that older adults in Burlington and Vermont have significant challenges in achieving the goal of financial security as they age. Inadequate savings for retirement, discrimination in the workplace, and rising healthcare costs despite access to Medicare are all too often exacerbated by inflationary pressures adding to the cost of housing, food, and other essentials. Those on truly fixed incomes can be particularly hard pressed.

Working past the age of 65 is valued. For some is essential to be able to afford shelter, food, medicine, heat, and cooling. For others it is an opportunity to contribute in an economy short of workers at all levels, and find meaning and value in doing work and being compensated for it. Not dismissing workers simply for turning 65, or actively discriminating against them results in benefits both for individuals and the community.

Moving toward an Age-Friendly Community, in Burlington:

- ✓ City officials strongly support the Vermont Strong objective to increase the amount of income available to older Vermonters working with elected and appointed state and federal officials to advance initiatives.
- ✓ Increasing the 60+ workforce participation rate is a priority and employers have ready access to best practice information on hiring and retaining older workers and increase the number of workers aged 65+, advancing age-appropriate work conditions.
- ✓ The Burlington employer community, led by the City, presents a united front against age discrimination by enlisting 100 local employers in the AARP Employer Pledge (Believe in equal opportunity for all workers; Recognize the value of experienced workers; Recruit across diverse age groups and consider all applicants on an equal basis, regardless of age; Believe that 50+ workers should have a level playing field in their ability to compete and obtain jobs).
- ✓ Older adults seeking to work have direct access to local education and training, equipping them with the necessary skills and knowledge to be of high value either continuing their career or opting for an encore job.
- ✓ All residents have knowledge of and easy access to clear, up-to-date, and culturally relevant guidance and resources to make choices about working or retiring with financial security as they approach and become eligible for Medicare and Social Security benefits. Burlington supports lifelong learning for its citizens, and the "K-Grey" continuum of education and training is actively engaged to address this with city and partner programming.

Actions: City Council & The Mayor's Office

- 6. Provide a strong staffing function in appropriate departments to provide the equivalent of an Older Worker Ombudsperson to facilitate the efforts of the Aging Council, provide direct service to employers, coordinate with state initiatives for older workers, and support local partner efforts to advance opportunities for training, education, and resources for older workers of all backgrounds.
- 7. Provide funding (city and/or partners) for a Marketing Campaign to highlight older worker experiences and employer success stories and narratives. Align campaign with build up to National Employ Older Workers Week (September https://www.dol.gov/agencies/eta/seniors/national-employ-older-workers-week with Mayoral Proclamation and events to acknowledge and celebrate).

National Employ Older Workers Week, held annually the last full week of September, recognizes the vital role of older workers in the workforce. National Employ Older Workers Week aims to increase awareness of this labor segment and develop innovative strategies to tap it. It also highlights the Senior Community Service Employment Program (SCSEP), which provides on-the-job skills training to individuals fifty-five or older with limited financial resources.

8. Through the Library, Burlington Parks & Rec, and other partners (e.g., high school, colleges, senior centers, AALV), expand investment in digital literacy resources specific to the needs of older community members. Include alternatives that are culturally appropriate and translated into a variety of languages.

Summary of Key Investments:

- Dedicated staffing function (new, not an add-on) as an Older Worker Ombudsperson
- Funding to develop and run a long term marketing campaign on older workers, culminating in Burlington being recognized as an Age Friendly Working Community.
- Providing translation services for programming and the development of online and print materials for outreach and information.
- Additional program funding for the Library and Parks and Rec to expand digital literacy
 programming through their respective outlets, and develop partnership with community
 groups to expand their reach.

Actions: Burlington Aging Council and Age-Friendly Organizational Network (including City Departments) with Staffing Support

- In coordination with the city's Older Worker Ombudsperson create an advisory panel of employers to advise on the marketing campaign, support the AARP Employer Pledge Campaign, and seek out resources to advance best practices in employing older workers, including emphasis on older BIPOC, New American, non-native English speaker workers. Create a value proposition around part-time and flexible work, job share, and opportunities for mentoring.
- 2. Partner with A4TD to bring their programming to the City.
- 3. Convene a semi-annual peer group of mature workers (from different fields, backgrounds, experiences, and employers) to share and learn techniques for satisfying work and provide support whether one is returning to the workforce, shifting to a new area or field, reducing hours, or negotiating other flexibility. Document the lessons learned into a deliverable for other older workers to utilize.
- 4. Consolidate and promote education, training, and guidance resources in Burlington for older workers. Bring together providers (e.g., Library, Parks and Recreation, Senior Centers, Age Well, Community College, Burlington School System/Tech Center, AALV, A4TD's Senior Community Service Employment Program and The Vermont Returnship Program; AARP's Resources for Building An Age-Inclusive and Caregiving-Friendly Workforce; Encore's work engagement initiatives; and Vermont's developing Workforce Expansion Team (WET) with regional coordinators; HireAbility Vermont) to devise a focused plan and program.
- 5. Support and advocate on behalf of state initiatives to provide for secure retirement (e.g., VTSaves Retirement Program) through active engagement of state representatives. Promote programs such as VTSaves to all Burlington residents. Include resources for those without access to the internet and those who do not speak English to access these programs. Establish programs to emphasize this for all ages.
- 6. Work with community partnering organizations, such as SASH and the Vermont Ethics Network, to promote and increase access to educational programs to help older Burlington residents understand the types of legal and financial documents within end-of-life documentation. Work with relevant cultural affinity organizations to include culturally appropriate resources and translated education materials.

We measure progress as:

- The Burlington employer community enlists 100 local employers in the AARP Employer Pledge, starting with City Government, and then doubling the number of pledges each year for three years.
- Change in City policy to
 - signing on to AARP Employer Pledge;
 - o issue a Mayoral proclamation for National Employ Older Workers Week;
 - action on the part of the city to follow through with policies that open the door to more older workers in city government (negotiated agreements as necessary with unions);
 - resulting in specific numbers to showcase of older workers in city government, allowing the city to model behavior for other employers.
- Have a better understanding of the demographics of Burlington's workers, 60+ and how they impact the local economy.
- Employers share data on hiring practices and employment of older workers.
- The marketing campaign builds awareness.
- Enrollment grows at all programs for all programs offered in Burlington.

Action Plan for an Age Strong Burlington

OPTIMAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING

As an Age-Friendly Community, in Burlington:

Prioritizing optimal health and wellbeing among older adults involves developing strategies that address all facets of an older adult's health needs. This includes optimizing access to and quality of health care, exercise, and nutrition resources. All Burlington residents should receive, without discrimination, optimal physical, dental, mental, emotional, and spiritual health through the full course of their lives. Holistic options for health, exercise, counseling, and good nutrition should be both affordable and accessible. Access to coordinated, competent, and high-quality care should be provided at all levels and in all settings.

The City of Burlington identifies Ageism as a public health threat, often rendering older adults invisible, and minimizing resources and attention needed to enable all community members to enjoy a full and fruitful life, contributing to the greater good, and depending on it for support as it is needed.

Moving toward an Age-Friendly Community, in Burlington:

- ✓ Older adults can safely access a variety of affordable opportunities for exercise within an inclusive environment. Resources are available to expand accessible and free community-based physical activity classes at senior centers, Adult Day Centers, congregate housing sites and other community gathering spaces that are accessible and seek to include health professionals.
- ✓ PlanBTV and other community design projects support year-round infrastructure supporting increased physical activity among older adults.
- ✓ Older adults can access comprehensive mental health care from qualified providers, including traumainformed mental health professionals, without fear of stigma or discrimination.
- ✓ Older adults are food secure through the combined efforts of community partners such as Age Well, Feeding Chittenden, local senior centers, and others in the "Free Food in Burlington" network. Food security considers culturally appropriate food.
- ✓ Older adults have equitable access to primary health care.
- ✓ Older adults can live safely in their home, with ready access to in-home assessments and adaptations to prevent falls.
- ✓ Older adults have ready access to programs and resources for social interaction and connection, including exercise programs, which are evidence-based interventions for suicide prevention.
- ✓ The city encourages and supports active educational programming and city policy specifically calls out
 ageism as detrimental to healthy aging, continues to identify and advance policies and communications
 that combat ageism.
- ✓ The city promotes public education efforts for wellness, e.g., Vermonters Taking Action Against Cancer, promote and increase cancer screening rates among all Vermonters that meet clinical guidelines, and programs that address and reduce substance misuse of alcohol, cannabis, tobacco, and opioids to improve health and reduce chronic diseases, including cognitive decline.
- ✓ All resources and programming consider the diverse cultural, ethnic, and language background of Burlington residents and provide pathways to access and understand opportunities for all.

Actions: City Council & The Mayor's Office

On April 26, 2021, City Council passed a Resolution creating the Burlington Aging Council, noting that older residents of Burlington must be valued members of the community, and that ageism and social isolation for seniors are deeply embedded in our culture leading to increased mortality and poor health outcomes. In support of increasing the conditions to support optimal health and wellness for older adults in Burlington specific actions by city government and its partners are recommended.

- 9. Work to promote optimal health and wellbeing for older adults in Burlington, supported by a rigorous effort at education, information access, partner coordination, advocacy at the state level for adequate program resources, and targeted investments at the local level. To properly advance this agenda **staffing support** for a reinvigorated Burlington Aging Council is essential.
- 10. Provide adequate funding to ensure that essential information, resources, and updates are available in multiple languages.
- 11. Direct City Departments, such as the Police Department to pursue partnerships with community organizations (e.g., UVMMC Emergency Department) to identify older individuals at risk of experiencing homelessness (or experiencing homelessness) so that they can more effectively connected with resources.
- 12. Build on the success of the CORE Adult Center (run by Burlington Parks, Recreation, and Waterfront Department) and engage partners to support the development an Adult Day Center in Burlington to assist older adults with higher intensity care needs and provide respite to family caregivers.
- 13. Expand the 50+ Programming of Burlington Parks, Recreation, and Waterfront Department to ensure that all older adults can access a variety of affordable opportunities for exercise within an inclusive environment. Align planning with the state's comprehensive physical activity plan, called for in Age Strong Vermont, to decrease isolation, increase social engagement, and provide evidence-based physical activity and strength training programs to promote positive health outcomes.
- 14. Direct DPW and BPRW to coordinate planning efforts to increase sidewalk safety year round to encourage outdoor activity and mobility, and to put in place other supportive physical amenities to make Burlington a year round accessible active city providing opportunity for activity in support of health in line with the <a href="https://www.who.active.new.google.g
- 15. Expand funding for and promotion of the Housing Access Modifications program at CEDO, including home assessments for fall prevention and other safety upgrades for older adults living in apartments or houses in concert with community partner programs.
- 16. Provide a clear public resolution declaring Ageism and Ableism as public health threats. Commit to identifying and addressing <u>structural ageism</u> and <u>ableism</u> through policy and programs, providing resources and attention needed to enable all community members to enjoy a full and fruitful life, contributing to the greater good, and depending on it for support as it is needed.

Summary of Key Investments:

- Dedicated funding from the city to support:
 - City staff support for the Burlington Aging Council
 - Informational resource development, printing and web hosting, and translation services.
 - City departmental personnel dedicated time and effort (and training) to support Healthy Aging initiatives (e.g., Burlington Police Department, BPRW, DPW, CEDO).
 - Specific support to expand capacity of BPRW to build out programming and facilities.
 - o Funding for the Housing Access Modification Program.
 - City specific Data and Tracking capabilities to identify the need and track the impact of investments and interventions.

Actions: Burlington Aging Council and Age-Friendly Organizational Network (including City Departments) with Staffing Support

- ✓ Support and advocate for evidence-based programs to ensure that older adults can safely access a variety of affordable opportunities for exercise within an inclusive environment. (State Age Strong Goal: By 2033, increase non-leisure physical activity among older adults 65+ to meet or exceed the "Healthy Vermonters" goal).
 - a. Advocate for and support updates to PlanBTV and other community design projects (e.g., ECOS) support year-round infrastructure supporting increased physical activity among older adults.
 - b. Identify resources to support the expansion of accessible and free community-based physical activity classes at senior centers, Adult Day Centers and other settings including hybrid classes that can be recorded for use at any time and which seek to include health professionals.
 - c. Create a centralized and comprehensive dashboard of Burlington-based exercise and wellness related services provided by Senior Centers and other community groups. These resources will also be available in print format and translated into a variety of languages.
- ✓ Support programming innovation and partnerships to ensure that all older residents in Burlington are food secure.
 - Decrease the proportion of older individuals experiencing food insecurity or at-risk of experiencing food insecurity by increasing access to and knowledge about meal service providers.
 - b. Work with Age Well's Meals on Wheels Program, Feeding Chittenden, and Burlington Free Meals and local senior centers to support an increase of supplemental free meal programs.
 - c. Ensure that knowledge about the availability of such programs is accessible, with print and translated options available.
 - d. Support and publicize the availability of culturally appropriate meals that represent the dietary needs and preferences of Burlington's diverse cultural and ethnic groups.
 - e. Promote and link older Vermonters to Therapeutic Horticulture, which can be easily adapted to support various aspects of aging well and provide participants opportunities to make meaningful contributions to their communities by growing healthy food and creating beautiful gardens, and natural areas.
- ✓ Support and advocate for programs that advance opportunities for all older adults to have equitable access to primary health care.
- ✓ Work with Healthcare Organizations to recruit BIPOC doctors, nurses, and other health care practitioners to Burlington. Encourage organizations to provide ongoing education and training to all local health care providers regarding the impact of systemic racism on an individual's physical and mental health, and ongoing education and training to all local health care providers about the ways implicit bias and systemic racism affects their own beliefs and practices. Partner to increase access to medical interpreters, including ASL.
- ✓ Improve accessibility of Burlington-area public transportation to ease ability of older Burlington residents to attend exercise opportunities and get to medical appointments. This includes making sidewalks safer, especially for those with limited mobility, increasing frequency of busing routes to UVMMC satellite locations, and maintaining low-cost fare options for older users of public transportation. Fares need to be income sensitive and encourage increased use, not decreased or non-use for older residents.

- ✓ Expand the provision of resources and educational materials related to keeping older Burlington residents safely in their homes, such as in-home assessments and adaptations to prevent falls offered by Age Well. Materials need to be provided in multiple formats and translated into a variety of languages.
- ✓ Increase accessibility of pre-existing educational materials and resources relating to health and wellness by requiring the provision of translated and in-print options. Developing media kits to provide community partner organizations with information on services and educational materials.
- ✓ All older residents in Burlington can live safely in their home. Promote annual falls risk assessment and environmental scans or surveys provided by partner organizations.
- ✓ Collaborate with local community organizations and institutions, such as the UVMMC Emergency Department and the Burlington Police Department, to identify older individuals at risk of experiencing homelessness (or experiencing homelessness) so that they can more effectively connected with resources. This can also help to reduce emergency calls.
- ✓ Collaborate with partners to support the development of a part-time care facility in Burlington to assist older adults with higher intensity care needs and provide respite to family caregivers.
- ✓ Advocate for and research program approaches that ensure all older adults can access comprehensive mental health care from qualified providers, including trauma-informed mental health professionals, without fear of stigma or discrimination.
- ✓ Promote programs and help access resources to reduce the incidence of suicide among older adults in alignment with the Vermont state suicide prevention plan.
 - a. Educate and provide intervention for firearm and poison control safety for older Vermonters and their families including safe storage, firearm safety training, and advance care planning that include firearms.
 - b. To prevent physical and mental health problems, focus on measures to increase social interaction and connection, including exercise programs, screen and provide education and resources for suicide prevention among older residents, Vermonters with disabilities, who have served in the military, BIPOC, LGBTQ+ and/or are socially isolated.
 - c. Create social hubs at schools, libraries, churches, and other locations to increase social connection and engagement (see also "Social Connection is Key" strategies).
- ✓ Advocate for and seek resources for the expansion of on-site mental health services at Burlington senior housing sites, with an emphasis on increasing the number of trauma-informed and culturally informed mental health providers.
- ✓ Collaborate with local community groups, especially in BIPOC and New American communities, to provide resources that work to dismantle the stigma against accessing and receiving mental health support with focus on older residents.
- ✓ Identify and promote educational programming and city policy development that specifically calls out ageism as detrimental to healthy aging. Collaborate with partner to identify and advocate for city policies and messaging that combat ageism.
- ✓ Promote public education efforts that:
 - a. Engages local hospitals and clinics to hold free, accessible physical activity and wellness program offerings throughout the year with the goal for each town to have at least one/yr.
 - b. Coordinates with Vermonters Taking Action Against Cancer, promote and increase cancer screening rates among all Vermonters that meet clinical guidelines.

- c. Addresses and reduce substance misuse of alcohol, cannabis, tobacco, and opioids including among older Vermonters to improve health and reduce chronic diseases, including cognitive decline.
- d. Expands community-based falls prevention strategies including at Senior Centers, community centers, and congregate living facilities.
- e. Works with health care partners to identify and prioritize practitioner training to increase access to geriatric ear, nose and throat care, balance and strength conditioning and heart health/brain health related medical and public health interventions that decrease risk for falls, heart disease and dementia.
- f. Promotes referrals to the Vermont Association for the Blind and Visually Impaired for those who are visually impaired which can decrease risk of isolation, falls, lack of physical activity and healthy nutrition.
- g. Increases access to affordable electronic alert systems.

We measure progress as we:

- By 2033, increase non-leisure physical activity among older adults 65+ to meet or exceed the "Healthy Vermonters" goal.
- Decrease the proportion of Burlington adults ages 60+ who "Rarely or never gets the social and emotional support they need" by 25% by 2026 from 2023, (Data collected by Chittenden County BRFSS Survey), indicating greater access to support and mental health services.
- Decrease the proportion of older Burlington residents who have not seen a healthcare provider in the past year by 25%. (Data collected provided by Chittenden County BRFSS Survey)
- Suicide Prevention State Goal: By 2033, decrease to 21 (from 26.4 in 2021) the rate of suicide deaths per 100,000 male Vermonters age 65+ in alignment with the VT Suicide Prevention Plan to be launched in 2024).
- Decrease the proportion of older Burlington residents who have experienced a fall in the last year by 25%. (Data collected by Chittenden County BRFSS Survey)

Action Plan for an Age Strong Burlington

HOUSING, TRANSPORTATION, AND COMMUNITY DESIGN

As an Age-Friendly Community, in Burlington:

Affordable, accessible, appropriate, safe, and service-enriched housing, transportation, and community support options enable older adults to age in the community within a variety of settings along the continuum of care, fostering rich engagement in community life. These same building blocks, affordable housing, accessible transportation, and community friendly design are the same components that encourage people to grow up and raise their families in Burlington and for new residents to move to the city and stay.

The city provides leadership to ensure that a wide range of housing options and a network of homebased care and other service options are available to meet changing needs of residents empowering older adults to remain in their homes as they age, and when appropriate move within the community to more supportive housing that maintains their engagement in the civic, economic, and social life of the community.

The city demonstrates its commitment to an age-friendly transportation network, including improved community walkability and expansion of bus and transit stops, seamless transit across transit district lines, and investing in *complete streets* infrastructure through both its annual planning and budgeting process, as well as in its long-term vision.

Moving toward an Age-Friendly Community, in Burlington:

- ✓ Older adults have access to a comprehensive set of programs that connect housing, health care, and social enhancement.
- ✓ Housing options that are accessible, affordable, and safe are in ample supply to address the needs of older adults at various levels of independence.
- ✓ Opportunities are created to provide affordable dementia-focused housing that meets universal design standards and incorporates the person-centered <a href="Best Friends" approach to memory loss in order to reduce the long waitlist for those with lower income looking for residential memory care.
- ✓ Housing for older adults and transportation services are tightly linked ensuring options for travel to work, volunteer opportunities, routine health appointments, spending time with family and friends, and enjoying entertainment, recreational and religious activities.
- ✓ There is a comprehensive strategy to prioritize the needs of older adults (e.g., community design, sidewalks, winter maintenance, transit stops, sitting benches). Incorporate this explicitly into PlanBTV, work with planning efforts across Vermont in seeking Network of Age Friendly States accreditation, and contribute to the incorporation of older adult sensibilities in the CCRPC ECOS Plan.
- ✓ Mobility options allow those without, or with limited use of personal automobiles to meet their mobility needs affordably and efficiently.
- ✓ Public spaces are accessible and inclusive (indoor and outdoor) for all ages, in all seasons.
- ✓ Public intergenerational programming is the norm.

Actions: City Council & The Mayor's Office

- 17. Expand City staffing functions in key city departments (e.g., CEDO, Planning, DPW, Parks, Recreation & Waterfront) to explicitly address the needs of older adults in the city. Build Age-Friendly criteria into job descriptions and performance reviews and provide staff with adequate training and upskilling to succeed in this effort.
- 18. Support the expansion of existing Burlington programs that work to connect housing, health care, and social supports for aging residents, with an emphasis on broadening the provision of diverse types of housing options/situations depending on level of independence.
- 19. Expand the supply of affordable age-specific housing options. Work with housing organizations to increase affordable and accessible assisted living opportunities. Collaborate with developers and partners to create opportunities to provide affordable dementia-focused housing.
- 20. Increase opportunities for Home Share programming in Burlington. Assess the current pilot program approved by City Council in 2022. Build on the incentives that are working. Review strategies such as municipal tax breaks for Home Share homeowners and include provisions for how this applies to multi-generational living situations among diverse cultural groups.
- 21. Require all new construction to adhere to Universal Design Standards.
- 22. Work with GMT to increase usage of public transportation, with special attention to the needs of older adults, and support GMT staffing and resource needs to accomplish this. Work with GMT to ensure that the fare structure is transparent and understandable to riders, and that it considers the needs of older riders in terms of access, comfort, and AFFORDABILITY.
- 23. Work with GMT, DPW, and other relevant agencies on processes and funding needed to support a standardized bus stop amenity plan that addresses winter maintenance. Apply a similar process to handicapped parking spaces.
- 24. Provide incentives to fill the gaps with volunteer and assisted ride programs.
- 25. Require <u>PlanBTV</u> to incorporate a comprehensive strategy to prioritize the needs of older adults in elements of community design, including sidewalks, winter maintenance, etc.
- 26. Adapt the capacity, staffing, and funding of pre-existing policy efforts to expand age friendly infrastructure and design efforts in Burlington.
- 27. Promote the newly adopted BTV Neighborhood Code to increase opportunities for middle housing. Collaborate with residents and small-scale developers to include community input in the implementation and development of zoning policy that supports middle housing with an emphasis on accessibility and affordability for older adults.

Summary of Key Investments:

- Expand City staffing functions in key city departments (e.g., CEDO, Planning, DPW, Parks, Recreation & Waterfront) to explicitly address the needs of older adults in the city, build it into job descriptions and performance review, and provide staff with adequate training and upskilling to succeed at this effort.
- Assess the Home Share pilot program and determine what incentives work and fund them. Review the opportunity to provide a municipal tax break for Home Share homeowners.
- Assess GMT funding needs that the city must supplement to ensure adequate public transit service for older adults. Provide incentives to fill the gaps with volunteer and assisted ride programs, such as GMT's Community Driver Program.
- Expand or hire staff as needed to support Age-Friendly Burlington initiatives.
- Provide training opportunities for city staff on meeting Age-Friendly goals.

Actions: Burlington Aging Council and Age-Friendly Organizational Network (including City Departments) with Staffing Support

City Coordination

- Collaborate with staff in key city departments (e.g., CEDO, Planning, DPW, Parks, Recreation & Waterfront) to develop and coordinate strategies and programs to explicitly address the needs of older adults in the city.
- 2. Identify **training and upskilling** opportunities for city staff, Council members, and partners to succeed in this effort.

State Coordination

- 3. Align Burlington goals with State goals and support state efforts to measure progress and work toward Age-Friendly State accreditation.
- 4. Support state legislation to advance Burlington and the State's Age Strong Plan goals.

Housing

- 5. Support the expansion of existing Burlington programs that work to **connect housing**, **health care**, **and social supports for aging residents**, with an emphasis on broadening the provision of diverse types of housing options/situations depending on level of independence.
 - a. Expand age-specific housing-based programs that focus on mental health and social isolation as a determinant of physical health.
 - b. Support embedding mental health clinicians with housing programs to support those clients with mental health concerns and identify emerging issues.
 - c. Collaborate with local BIPOC, New American and other cultural affinity groups to ensure the inclusion of culturally informed resources on combined housing and health care opportunities.
- 6. Expand the supply of affordable age-specific housing options.
 - a. Encourage housing organizations to increase the availability of affordable and accessible assisted living opportunities.
 - b. Work with developers and partner organizations to create opportunities to provide affordable dementia-focused housing that meets universal design standards and incorporates the person-centered Best Friends™ approach to memory loss to reduce the long waitlist for those with lower income looking for residential memory care.
- 7. Increase awareness and usage of existing maintenance and home modification programs aimed at keeping older residents in their homes, safely, for longer. Advocate for increased funding and support for home access programs to adapt older homes for those who are aging or experiencing disabilities with existing partners (e.g., Cathedral Square, VCIL, Age Well)
- 8. Increase opportunities for Home Share programming in Burlington.
 - a. Assess the current pilot program approved by City Council in 2022. Determine what variables and incentives are working.
 - b. Explore additional strategies, such as municipal tax breaks for Home Share homeowners.
 - c. Research how this applies to multi-generational living situations among diverse cultural groups.
- 9. Explore what it would take to expand Accessory Dwelling Unit incentives specifically targeted toward 60+ population, including bridge loans.
- 10. Promote accessibility for all Burlington housing units (Universal Design Standards).

- 11. Advocate for increased focus on housing services and programs for older adults in Burlington's housing plans and strategies. Explicitly recognize the importance of housing and transportation in fostering an age-friendly city environment.
- 12. Increase the supply of middle housing and raise awareness about missing middle housing, with a focus on the needs of older adults for housing options.
 - a. Promote the newly adopted BTV Neighborhood Code to increase opportunities for middle housing.
 - b. Collaborate with residents and small-scale developers to include community input in the implementation and development of zoning policy that supports middle housing with an emphasis on accessibility and affordability for older adults.

Transportation

- 13. Work with GMT to explore strategy and programs to increase usage of public transportation by expanding the accessibility and convenience of services with special attention to the needs of older adults. Work with GMT to ensure that any future fare structure is transparent and understandable to riders, and that it considers the needs of older riders in terms of access, comfort, and AFFORDABILITY. Advocate for a fare structure that acts to increase ridership by older adults, decreasing their reliance on personal vehicles. Make available resources for older transit riders to better understand GMT services and fare structure. Promote utilization of GMT's travel Training Program, Ride Together.
- 14. Promote the services offered by SSTA (e.g., *social rides*) and eligibility for such services. Support staffing and resource needs of SSTA to meet increased demand.
- 15. Advocate for incentives to fill the gaps with volunteer and assisted ride programs, such as GMT's Community Driver Program.
- 16. Work with SSTA, UVMMC shuttling services, and other transportation operations to expand current transportation services to medical appointments, e.g., provision of accessible routes to UVMMC satellites (Tilley Drive, etc.).

Community Design

- 17. Work with PlanBTV on creating a comprehensive strategy to prioritize the needs of older Burlington residents in elements of community design, including sidewalks, winter maintenance, etc.
 - Work with planning efforts across Vermont in seeking Network of Age Friendly States accreditation. Examine strategies employed by other VT cities in the Network of Age Friendly Cities: Milton, Newport.
 - b. Adapt the capacity, staffing, and funding of pre-existing policy efforts to expand age friendly infrastructure and design efforts in Burlington.
- 18. Work with City Departments to adopt the AARP-VT Winter Audit Report on Burlington and act on the key recommendations:
 - a. Create a Winter City Strategy or a Winter Master Plan through a robust process of equitable community engagement. The Plan or Strategy should focus on parks and public spaces while prioritizing programming, maintenance, and equity.
 - b. Create winter programs and attractions that are accessible and representative of Burlingtonians of all ages, abilities, and socio-economic statuses. Support businesses and organizations who seek to provide winter activities and events through promotion, permit approvals, and winter-based improvement grants. Explore work being done in other cities focusing on winter accessibility needs that could be employed in Burlington.

c. Imbed a winter lens in all planning and policy documents.

We measure progress as we:

- Increase Home Share program matches and longevity of matches in Burlington.
- Increase the number of age-specific housing units available in Burlington, including Independent,
 Residential Care and Assisted Living, Nursing facilities, and memory care, and decrease the waiting list time for these units.
- Decrease the numbers of older Burlington residents (60+) experiencing homelessness or housing insecurity.
- Increase funding and utilization of home modification programs to support Aging in Place.
- Increase new construction that includes middle housing designs and adheres to Universal Design Standards.
- Increase use of GMT and specific transport services.
- Increase the number of trips taken by walk, bike, and transit.
- Reduce social isolation and loneliness.



BURLINGTON SUPPORT INFRASTRUCTURE FOR THE FUTURE

City Positions and Functions

- Social Connection and Engagement Coordinator
- Older Worker Ombudsperson -to coordinate and provide direct service to employers, and work with partners to advance opportunities for training, education, and resources for older workers.
- ➤ BAC Coordinator a full or significant portion of a staff person to work with the future Council and the network of partners organizations to advance the broad agenda to create Burlington as an Age-Friendly Community.

These positions/functions should be consolidated in a single city department to best afford the coordination and synergies needed for successful implementation over the long term. Options may include:

- a. CEDO has provided support and coordination for BAC up to this time, and an Age Strong Burlington aligns with community and economic development goals. The funding structure and other commitments of CEDO however may preclude adding an expansive new set of responsibilities.
- b. Burlington Parks, Recreation and Waterfront currently runs significant programming for older adults, including the CORE senior center in the ONE. The action agenda may be more expansive than their current charge.
- c. The Racial Equity, Inclusion, and Belonging Office is a model of what is needed to advance an agenda across multiple domains (Economy, Health, Social and Human Development, Physical Environment, and Community and Belonging) to bring about systemic change.

Support Tasks and Functions

Many of the tasks need to be assigned or involve staff from multiple City Departments. Prioritization of tasks needs to be directed through annual plans and additional funding as needed, in addition to the coordinating and action roles listed above. Successful execution will require central coordination and authority.

Identifying funding sources is critical for:

- Staffing to adapt planBTV to address Burlington's aging population.
- Website design, physical print copies of resource guide.
- Development of technology education program.
- Increasing home fit programs to adapt older homes for those who are aging or experiencing disabilities.
- Expanding Home Share opportunities.
- Expanding the pilot program by SASH and Howard Center mental health housing programs related to MH/social isolation to additional housing communities.
- Support for a Family Caregiver Awareness Campaign each November (Family Caregiver Month).
- Developing and maintaining additional "third spaces" for older residents to gather in addition to additional support for the existing senior centers.

Network of Providers and Partners

CITY OF BURLINGTON INFRASTRUCTURE FOR AN AGE-FRIENDLY CITY

An explicit commitment to Age Strong Burlington needs to be made by the City through:

- Proclamations;
- Establishment of a City Web Portal for Age-Friendly Burlington;
- Departmental Cooperation to examine practices and policies that enhance Age-Friendly initiatives;
- Staffing and Budget Commitment to Advance Age-Friendly initiatives in a timely and robust manner.

EXPANDING PARTNERS

Key partners for an Age Strong Burlington participated in the initial Burlington Aging Council. They include:

- Congolese Community
- UVM Center on Aging
- Cathedral Square
- Age Well Vermont
- AARP-VT

- Heineberg Senior Center
- Howard Center
- GMT
- CEDO

These important contributors represent only a few of the many organizations that currently contribute to an Age Strong Burlington. A future Aging Council will establish a visible partner network, both to coordinate efforts and to measure progress, seeking out collaborative partnership opportunities.

Burlington Aging Council

The BAC needs to continue as a robust representative advisory group to work directly with City departments and staff, as well as community service providers in the implementation of actions needed to transform and document Burlington as an Age-Friendly City.

- Staffing support to organize and facilitate Council efforts, as well as planning and implementation of priority initiatives and tracking and reporting on metrics.
- Dedicated budget for City-wide engagement (survey, focus groups, newsletter and information guides, website development and management, programming grants)
- Active participation by key city departments with the Council (CEDO, Library, Parks & Rec, Public Works, REIB). Full support of departments for specific initiatives (e.g., Human Resources, Business and Workforce Development, Innovation and Technology)

AGE STRONG VERMONT: How does the Age Strong Burlington Plan fit into the state's plan?

The State of Vermont has proposed a 10-year multi-sector visionary plan, Age-Strong Vermont, with strategies for making Vermont a great place for all ages and stages of life. https://www.healthvermont.gov/wellness/brain-health-dementia/age-strong-vermont-our-roadmap-age-friendly-state

The Age-Strong Vermont plan calls out local efforts as keys to its overall success and directly mentions the work of the Burlington Aging Council (p. 6-7).

Age Strong VT will continue to support these local efforts with good communication, shared learning and collaboration, and expanding and strengthening partnerships. We recognize that we must all work together at all levels of government and community to be successful. The work of the Burlington Aging Council and Windham Aging provide excellent models to other Vermont regions, town governments and communities on how to have these important conversations and build towards positive change for aging well.

Strategies proposed by the state parallel those that the Burlington Aging Council has advanced. Work in Burlington should closely track the state initiatives, taking advantage of resources and learning at the state level, as well as offering up our learning and support to the state and other communities. The state plan aligns with the Bulington Action Plan in five areas.

1. Social Connection and Engagement

As an age-friendly state we raise awareness, strengthen opportunities for engagement in a diversity of places and ways, and encourage all Vermonters to make meaningful connections across the generations.

Objectives:

- a) Increase awareness and identification of social isolation and loneliness among all older adults.
- b) Increase the availability and accessibility of high-quality and equitable programming for older Vermonters.
- c) Increase volunteerism of older Vermonters.
- d) Increase the number of intergenerational engagement opportunities for all Vermonters.

The Strategies under Housing, Transportation, and Community Design are all directly related to achieving this goal.

2. Family Caregiver Support

Family care partners are fundamental to supporting the health and well-being of Vermonters across the lifespan; family care partners are the backbone of the home- and community-based service system.

Objectives:

- a) Reduce the need for family/friends to provide full-time care/assistance to a friend/family member.
- b) Increase family care partner knowledge of respite options.

- c) Increase family care partner knowledge of self-care, medical benefits, long-term care and estate planning resources.
- d) Reduce negative financial impacts on family care partners.
- e) Increase the adoption and use of recommended policies and interventions
- f) to support adults who may be self-neglecting.
- g) Increase the transparency and usability of long-term care facility data.
- h) Increase coordination of elder justice services and supports

Strategies: Create a coordinated and efficient system of services by establishing a well-maintained, easy to use, accessible system for information, referral, and assistance that all Vermonters know how to access as they age, including those who are in danger of or a victim of abuse, neglect, or exploitation; and a system of service providers and key entities that have established clear roles and responsibilities to support a coordinated system of services.

- a. Adopt age-friendly best practices at VT211 and AAA Helpline call centers.
- b. Increase access to information about age-friendly resources and supports.
- c. Increase access to a coordinated system of age-friendly services, supports and protections through seeing age-friendly designation for universities, public health, health systems including hospitals and clinics, and care facilities among other institutions.
- d. Increase the availability of safe emergency housing for older Vermonters.

3. Financial Security

Financial security is closely connected to health and well-being and an age-friendly state works to support efforts to make aging affordable. Prioritizing the strengths that Vermont has to offer in job training, home sharing and volunteer-led initiatives position our state towards affordable aging.

The following objectives for improving the financial security of older Vermonters result from multi-sector participation across labor, tax, human rights, and poverty advocates.

Objectives:

- a) Increase the amount of income available to older Vermonters.
- b) Increase Vermont's 60+ workforce participation rate.
- c) Support opportunities for education about retirement for all Vermonters.

4. Optimal Health and Wellness

All Vermonters deserve the opportunity for optimal health, wellness, physical and mental vitality that is free of chronic disease and its impairments. To achieve this, the focus is on increasing access to free and accessible physical activity that also provides social engagement; identifying and addressing food insecurity while integrating Vermont's strengths in Farm to School/Farm to Table more closely with congregate settings for older adults; providing online and community fall prevention interventions to boost Vermonters' strength and safety; increasing awareness on the multiple ways we can decrease social isolation, substance misuse and suicide risk that over time build even greater emotional wellness for Vermont's older residents. While age is the most significant risk factor for developing dementia, chronic disease prevention and social engagement strategies outlined above contribute to healthy aging and brain health, and importantly reduced dementia risk.

Objectives:

- a) Reduce chronic diseases and comorbidities among older Vermonters.
- b) Increase physical activity for older Vermonters.
- c) Reduce food insecurity for all Vermonters.
- d) Reduce fall-related deaths.
- e) Prevent suicide among older Vermonters.

5. Housing, Transportation and Community Design

Older Vermonters need a wider range of housing options and a network of home-based care and other service options that meet changing needs across the decades and allow older adults to remain in their homes as they age. The housing conditions of older adults are often linked to their quality of life and whether they can age independently and continue to engage in civic, economic, and social life. High housing costs can discourage older people from moving to more appropriate, accessible housing. The production, protection, and preservation of affordable housing, including Residential Care Facilities of all sizes, will support older adults, caregivers, and their families.

Age-friendly transportation networks need to be strengthened through improved community walkability and expansion of bus and transit stops, seamless transit across transit district lines, and investing in complete streets infrastructure in our downtown and village centers.

The Age Strong VT Plan includes strategies to encourage appropriate housing design located in proximity to community and social services with accessible and affordable transportation options, and inclusive communities designed with accessible buildings, workplaces and public spaces and parks. By making steady investments in this type of future-focused infrastructure, we can build and economically benefit from an age-friendly state.

Housing

- a. Increase the number of new units of high-quality affordable housing that enable residents to age well in community.
- b. Increase age-specific housing available for older Vermonters.
- c. Increase the number of older Vermonters who can "age in place" [which means choosing to remain at home or in a supportive living community as they grow older without having to move each time their needs increase].

Transportation

- a. Focus future transit service on "Designated Growth Zones" (maximize investment in concentrated development centers).
- b. Expand the Older Vermonters and Persons with a Disability (O&D) program.
- c. Increase access to walkable, bikeable and transit friendly communities that facilitate independence and support aging in place.

Community Design

a. Increase the availability of accessible, inclusive public spaces (indoor and outdoor) in towns by encouraging Smart Growth and infill development.

To see the full list of State Strategies see Appendix D.

APPENDICES – Age Strong Burlington

- A. Acknowledgements
- B. City Council Charge Creating the Burlington Aging Council
- C. Organizations Promoting Equity in Aging Resources
- D. Detailed State Age Strong objectives and strategies
- E. BAC interim Accomplishments
 - i. HomeShare pilot
 - ii. Family Caregiver Month Proclamation

A. Acknowledgements

Council Members Marcella Intern

Other?



B. City Council Charge Creating the Burlington Aging Council

Resolution Relating to

musicians, writers, and much more; and

4

7

8

9

10

14

15

16

CREATION OF THE BURLINGTON AGING COUNCIL

updated

RESOLUTION 5.06

Sponsor(s): Councilors Pine, Carpenter, Hightower Introduced: 04/26/21 Referred to:

Action: adopted
Date: 04/26/21

Signed by Mayor: _05/03/21

CITY OF BURLINGTON

In the year Two Thousand Twenty-One

Resolved by the City Council of the City of Burlington, as follows:

- That WHEREAS, older residents of Burlington must be valued members of the community; and
 WHEREAS, older adults are as diverse as the communities in which they live and are Burlington's
 homeowners, taxpayers, business owners, entrepreneurs, employees, volunteers, civic leaders, artists,
- WHEREAS, ageism and social isolation for seniors are deeply embedded in our culture, leading to increased mortality and poor health outcomes; and
 - WHEREAS, Burlington can address ageism and social isolation through education and intentional inclusion; and
 - WHEREAS, in 2019, this Council created the Senior Study Committee to review and make recommendations regarding the long-term provision of senior services in Burlington; and
- WHEREAS, in addition to continued support for the Heineberg Community Senior Center and the
 CORE Adult Center (formerly the Champlain Senior Center), the Committee recommended the formation of a
 "Council on Aging;" and
 - WHEREAS, in March 2020, the Mayor's Office and Community and Economic Development Office (CEDO) assembled a Seniors Working Group to coordinate communication and quickly deploy resources amongst senior care throughout the pandemic; and
- WHEREAS, this group has been meeting regularly throughout the pandemic to discuss policy changes and share best practices; and
- WHEREAS, the coordination has successfully protected vulnerable Burlington residents during the
 pandemic and in order to plan for current and future needs of older adults in Burlington, a plan on aging that is
 updated at regular intervals would be a useful guide for City policies and initiatives; and
- WHEREAS, the City Council Community Development and Neighborhood Revitalization (CDNR)
 Committee convened a group of individuals involved in issues facing our older residents in order to explore
 more fully the idea of forming a local Council on Aging; and

25 WHEREAS, the CDNR Committee reached the unanimous conclusion that the needs of our older 26 residents are unique and require the focused attention of a City-supported group such as a Burlington Aging 27 Council: 28 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council creates the Burlington Aging Council 29 with the purposes of 30 elevating the contributions of older adults in Burlington: 31 raising issues facing older adults in Burlington and the organizations that serve them; 32 making policy recommendations to the Mayor and City Council to address gaps, needs, and 33 opportunities that impact older adults in Burlington; and 34 ensuring that the voices of older adults in Burlington are at the forefront of City policy; and 35 creating and maintaining a "Burlington Plan on Aging" to act as a guiding template for City 36 policy and initiatives; and 37 38 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the focus areas of the council shall include: 39 40 Racial equity, inclusion, and belonging; identifying and rectifying barriers to service access. 41 opportunity, and community inclusion for older adult BIPOC community members 42 Health Prevention, Access, & Quality: Nutrition & Physical Activity 43 Food Security Multimodal Transportation 44 45 Accessible Outdoor & Indoor Public Spaces 46 Housing: Affordability, Availability, & Accessibility 47 Social Inclusion 48 Technology accessibility 49 Civic Engagement and Volunteerism 50 Industry Support 51 Family Caregiver Support; and 52 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the council members shall be appointed jointly by the Mayor and 53 54 City Council President in consultation with the CDNR Committee, with half of the members serving two-year terms and the other half serving one-year terms beginning June 1, 2021, and shall include: 55 56 1 member representing a healthcare provider (UVM Health Network, Community Health Centers of 57 Burlington, primary care physician, etc.) 58 I member representing a long-term care organization in Burlington 59 I member representing an affordable housing organization in Burlington 60 1 member representing an organization working to fight food insecurity in Vermont 61 1 member representing an organization providing advocacy and support for older adults in Vermont. 62 1 member representing an organization supporting New Americans in Vermont 63 I member representing an organization advocating for racial equity, inclusion, and belonging in 64 Burlington 65 1 member representing a senior center in Burlington 66 I member representing an organization providing mental health services in Vermont 67 1 member representing an organization providing transportation services in Vermont

CREATION OF THE BURLINGTON AGING COUNCIL

Page 2

Resolution Relating to

Page 3 Resolution Relating to CREATION OF THE BURLINGTON AGING COUNCIL

68 1 member representing the City's Community and Economic Development Office 69 3-5 older adults living in Burlington, who may be affiliated with the above-mentioned organizations 70 but do not have to be; and 71 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that after the first year, all members will serve two-year terms, such 72 73 that half the members are appointed each year beginning June 1, and the council shall elect a chair and vice 74 chair from among its members; and 75 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that CEDO will provide staff support for the council and shall be 76 responsible for creating and posting agendas, meetings, and notices and ensuring compliance with the 77 Vermont Open Meeting Law requirements. 78 80 lb/EBlackwood /Resolutions 2021/City Council - Creation of the Burlington Aging Council 4/26/21

ORIGINAL DISTRIBUTION: RESOLUTION RELATING TO I hereby certify that this resolution has been sent to the following Creation Of The Burlington Aging Council department(s) on City Attorney's Office Acting CEDO director Kinstedt Mayor's Office City Council President Tracy CDNR Committee Adopted by the City Council 26 Apri Clerk .. Mayor Lori Olberg Voting and records Coordinator Vol. Page

C. Organizations Promoting Equity in Aging

Resource	Description
Diverse Elders Coalition	The Diverse Elders Coalition (DEC) advocates for policies and programs that improve aging in our communities as racially and ethnically diverse people; American Indians and Alaska Natives; and lesbian, gay, bisexual and/or transgender people.
National Resource Center on LGBT Aging	The National Resource Center on LGBT Aging is the country's first and only technical assistance resource center aimed at improving the quality of services and supports offered to lesbian, gay, bisexual and/or transgender older adults.
Justice in Aging	Justice in Aging is a national organization that uses the power of law to fight senior poverty by securing access to affordable health care, economic security, and the courts for older adults with limited resources.
The National Caucus & Center on Black Aging (NCBA)	NCBA is a national organization addressing issues impacting African Americans aged 50 & over.
American Public Health Association (APHA)	APHA hosts a number of resources to address ageism, particularly building on the lessons from the COVID-19 pandemic, and strategies to follow the recommendations included in such guidance as the World Health Organization's healthy aging framework.
American Society on Aging (ASA)	Webinar series on Justice & Equity. ASA believes work on racial justice can no longer remain at the margins for those of us who work to improve the lives of older people in this country. Peter Kaldes, CEO of ASA, speaks with experts in aging whose work intersects with racial injustice and inequity.

D. Detailed State Age Strong objectives and strategies

Age Strong Vermont Detailed Objectives and Strategies

Strategies that are already underway or easily manageable in the first one to three years and do not require additional funding or state policy change are shaded in gray.

	Affordable Aging
Affordable Aging Objective 1:	Increase the amount of income available to older Vermonters.
	1. Assess participation rates of older eligible Vermonters in property tax and renter relief programs Medicare Savings Programs and create a data dashboard to annually assess whether older Vermonters are benefiting from these programs.
	2. Support and increase existing financial literacy programs for Vermonters across age groups, including for older adults.
	3. Explore the impact of an increase in the amount of Vermonters' social security income exempt from Vermont state income tax to 75% or exempt 100% of Social Security income.
	4. Support continuing review of the social security income tax exemption with automatic adjustments tied to market factors (such as the COLA).
	5. Explore an increase in the number of eligible (older) Vermonters who file for the property tax credit by assessing the impacts of:
	a. Increasing eligibility income limit and/or property value eligibility; and
	b. Simplifying the process.
	6. Consider and assess the impact of implementation of a low-income poverty credit.
	7. Explore how to make Medicare more affordable by covering more unreimbursed expenses for more older Vermonters and assessing the feasibility of the following:
	 a. Increase the income eligibility limit for Medicare Savings Program level "Qualified Medicare Beneficiary" (QMB) from 135% of the federal poverty level to at least 150% of the federal poverty level.
	 b. Increase the income eligibility limit for the Medicare Savings Programs level "Qualified Individual" (QI-1) from 135% of federal poverty level to at least 185% of the federal poverty level or higher as federal funding may allow.
	 Increase outreach to low-income older Vermonters eligible for Medicare Savings Programs.
	 d. Increase funding for the Vermont Legal Aid Elder Law Project Medicare Appeals program.
	8. Increase access to free or low-cost legal services for Vermonters.
Affordable Aging Objective 2:	Increase Vermont's 60+ workforce participation rate. Strategies may include:
	1. By 2027, develop labor demographic data for workers aged 18-85 (beyond current maximum age of 64) and create a data dashboard to assess the following, at least quarterly: Output Description:

	a. Include the number of employed Vermonters 64-85 in labor census reports.
	b. Identify workers engaged in self-employment, so called "gig" economy jobs, and other entrepreneurial occupations across all ages including up to age 85.
	c. Identify demographic characteristics of workers, including up to age 85, including gender identity.
	2. Provide information about workers' rights under the federal Age in Employment Discrimination Act and the Vermont Fair Employment Practices Act on DOL, DAIL, AAA websites.
	3. Improve digital literacy of Vermonters 55+ by supporting and increasing existing programs available.
	4. Restore the Mature Worker Coordinator position at DAIL and/or embed an older worker coordinator at the Department of Labor (DOL) to empower workers and employers.
	5. Increase knowledge, information and incentives for state and private employers to recruit, hire and retain older workers.
	a. Expand the DOL existing Job Link (or other online link) to serve as a resource for connecting employers with older workers.
	b. Create DOL toolkit for state and private employers to learn best practices for recruiting, interviewing, hiring, and retaining older workers and attracting retired workers back to the workforce.
	6. Offer benefits such as health insurance and paid leave to older part-time workers.
Affordable Aging Objective 3	Support opportunities for education about retirement for all Vermonters. Strategies may include:
	1. Improve outreach and education for Vermonters across the age span, including for older Vermonters, on retirement planning that reflects current economic reality (gig economy, entrepreneurship, reduced retirement support from private sector employers with more onus on employees).
	2. Support Vermont Department of Treasury retirement programs such as the VT Saves retirement option for all employees, and expand to include non-traditional gig, self-employment, and entrepreneurial workers.
	3. Support the Vermont Department of Treasury goal for Vermont to achieve eligibility for the federal retirement program, ABLE federal savings account.
	4. Explore the provision of free financial advisory services for Vermonters.
	Healthy Aging for All
Healthy Aging for All Objective 1	Reduce chronic diseases and comorbidities among older Vermonters. Strategies may include:

	By 2025, pursue state and other funding for chronic disease prevention and intervention that incorporates substance use impact on chronic disease (alcohol, cannabis, opioids, tobacco) and integrates dementia risk reduction.
	2. By 2025, examine existing strategies to improve population health and reduce the prevalence of chronic diseases and consider whether additional interventions are needed to address disparities (geographic, racial/ethnic, age, socioeconomic).
	3. Create a workgroup to select state and community strategies recommended in the U.S. Surgeon General Report on Social Isolation which will contribute to Vermonters achieving optimal physical and mental health wellness and brain health.
	4. Continue to identify and advance policies and communications that combat ageism.
	5. Support the Vermont Department of Health's statewide 3-4-50 Initiative to reduce the three risk behaviors (smoking, physical inactivity, poor nutrition) that cause the four chronic diseases (heart disease/stroke, cancer, diabetes, lung disease) that result in more than half of Vermont's deaths.
	6. Support efforts to include oral health benefits in Medicare.
	7. Support efforts to increase awareness of the risks that hearing loss poses, how to preserve hearing at work and home, and how to access over the counter hearing aids.
	8. Explore how to integrate mental health and substance use strategies and treatment into clinical and facility protocols that benefit aging Vermonters including those with mental health conditions.
	9. Engage local hospitals and clinics to hold free, accessible physical activity and wellness program offerings throughout the year with the goal for each town to have at least one/yr.
	10. In collaboration with Vermonters Taking Action Against Cancer, promote and increase cancer screening rates among all Vermonters that meet clinical guidelines.
	11. Address and reduce substance misuse of alcohol, cannabis, tobacco, and opioids including among older Vermonters to improve health and reduce chronic diseases, including cognitive decline.
	12. Ensure that the shared DAIL & VDH position dedicated to decreasing alcohol and medication misuse and mismanagement continues to elevate and address this issue.
	13. Employ or link to community nurses who can address aging needs and provide chronic disease care.
	14. Work collaboratively to improve hospital discharge planning for individuals who need long-term care, providing hospitals support to identify and coordinate safe discharge options.
	15. Continue to provide trainings through the DAIL-VDH Hub and Spoke ADRD Workgroup (Project ECHO on Dementia, Alzheimer's Association trainings, UCLA Dementia Care Model Pilot) to clinical care, emergency department and hospital direct care staff on how to care for individuals with cognitive impairments.
Healthy Aging for All	Increase physical activity for older Vermonters.
Objective 2	Strategies may include:
	1. By the end of 2024, develop a state comprehensive physical activity plan across the lifespan which also contributes to decreasing isolation and increasing social engagement.
	2. By 2026, explore including in state agreements and contracts for providing services to older Vermonters a deliverable that grantees and vendors will promote and/or provide options for daily movement through at-home and community-based services.

	3. By 2026, VDH and Vermont's Area Agencies on Aging will work to add two evidence-based physical activity and strength training programs to their respective menus of evidence-based programming and conduct promotions via social media and community-based communication methods.
	4. Expand accessible and free community-based physical activity classes at senior centers, Adult Day Centers and other settings including hybrid classes that are recorded for use at any time and which seek to include health professionals.
	5. VDH, Blueprint for Health, and SASH will work to include one or more age-friendly physical activity options through My Healthy VT (for example, Tai Chi for Arthritis and Falls Prevention).
	6. The Vermont Association of Planning and Development Agencies will work to undertake community design projects that support increasing physical activity among older adults.
	7. Age Strong VT will help determine how to increase the total number of sidewalks statewide and improve sidewalk safety, including during winter.
	8. Explore how to expand access to free/reduced gym memberships among low-income older Vermonters.
	9. Explore a policy effort to expand the state's childcare credit to support gym use.
	10. Offer training to primary care on cognitive impairment and dementia and strategies for exercise and nutrition.
	11. Adopt age positivity framework through Age Strong VT that benefits all Vermonters and their health.
	12. Advance physical activity prescriptions through clinical care.
Hoolthy Acina	
Healthy Aging for All	Reduce food insecurity for all Vermonters.
	Reduce food insecurity for all Vermonters. Strategies may include:
for All	
for All	Strategies may include: 1. By 2024, develop a Vermont Food Security Plan, a component of which elevates transportation needs related to food access, as part of the Vermont Sustainable Jobs Fund
for All	Strategies may include: 1. By 2024, develop a Vermont Food Security Plan, a component of which elevates transportation needs related to food access, as part of the Vermont Sustainable Jobs Fund Farm-to-Plate Program, currently grant-funded by VDH. 2. By 2026, the Department for Children and Families, Economic Services Division will
for All	Strategies may include: 1. By 2024, develop a Vermont Food Security Plan, a component of which elevates transportation needs related to food access, as part of the Vermont Sustainable Jobs Fund Farm-to-Plate Program, currently grant-funded by VDH. 2. By 2026, the Department for Children and Families, Economic Services Division will authorize the use of SNAP benefits for restaurant meals. 3. By 2027, reduce transportation-related barriers to accessing nutritious foods and meals through the Department of Vermont Health Access and the Vermont Agency of Transportation programs and increase delivery to congregate settings and employer
for All	 Strategies may include: By 2024, develop a Vermont Food Security Plan, a component of which elevates transportation needs related to food access, as part of the Vermont Sustainable Jobs Fund Farm-to-Plate Program, currently grant-funded by VDH. By 2026, the Department for Children and Families, Economic Services Division will authorize the use of SNAP benefits for restaurant meals. By 2027, reduce transportation-related barriers to accessing nutritious foods and meals through the Department of Vermont Health Access and the Vermont Agency of Transportation programs and increase delivery to congregate settings and employer engagement around food access. Increase access to food, fresh produce, oral health information, and social engagement at congregate settings including Vermont Food Bank, Meals on Wheels, AAAs, Commodity
for All	 Strategies may include: By 2024, develop a Vermont Food Security Plan, a component of which elevates transportation needs related to food access, as part of the Vermont Sustainable Jobs Fund Farm-to-Plate Program, currently grant-funded by VDH. By 2026, the Department for Children and Families, Economic Services Division will authorize the use of SNAP benefits for restaurant meals. By 2027, reduce transportation-related barriers to accessing nutritious foods and meals through the Department of Vermont Health Access and the Vermont Agency of Transportation programs and increase delivery to congregate settings and employer engagement around food access. Increase access to food, fresh produce, oral health information, and social engagement at congregate settings including Vermont Food Bank, Meals on Wheels, AAAs, Commodity Supplemental Food Program, and the CSA-sponsored elder program. Promote ongoing quality improvement in use of the <i>Hunger Vital Sign</i> screening tool
for All	Strategies may include: 1. By 2024, develop a Vermont Food Security Plan, a component of which elevates transportation needs related to food access, as part of the Vermont Sustainable Jobs Fund Farm-to-Plate Program, currently grant-funded by VDH. 2. By 2026, the Department for Children and Families, Economic Services Division will authorize the use of SNAP benefits for restaurant meals. 3. By 2027, reduce transportation-related barriers to accessing nutritious foods and meals through the Department of Vermont Health Access and the Vermont Agency of Transportation programs and increase delivery to congregate settings and employer engagement around food access. 4. Increase access to food, fresh produce, oral health information, and social engagement at congregate settings including Vermont Food Bank, Meals on Wheels, AAAs, Commodity Supplemental Food Program, and the CSA-sponsored elder program. 5. Promote ongoing quality improvement in use of the Hunger Vital Sign screening tool by health care systems working with older adults. 6. Implement coordinated malnutrition screening for adults and households through state and community programs (Blueprint for Health, SASH, Hunger Free Vermont, Bi-State Primary Care, AAAs and their Home Delivered Nutrition Program, and Vermont

	8. Work with health care payers in collaboration with AAAs and meal providers to explore current options (such as Home-Delivered Meals offered under the UVM Health Advantage Plan through MVP) for expanding food access and nutrition supports and participate in future payment models that promote "food as medicine" initiatives in Vermont.
	9. Support efforts to include coverage for adult dentures in the Vermont Medicaid benefit.
	10. Promote and link older Vermonters to Therapeutic Horticulture, which can be easily adapted to support many aspects of aging well and provide participants opportunities to make meaningful contributions to their communities by growing healthy food and creating beautiful gardens, and natural areas.
	11. Explore how to increase funding for providing free home and community-based meals so that all Vermonters, including those with disabilities living in poverty, can age strong.
Healthy Aging for All	Reduce fall-related deaths.
Objective 4	Strategies may include:
	1. By 2025, expand the home modifications program to include comprehensive falls risk assessment and prioritize home modifications that prevent falls (the state weatherization program, VDH, and Efficiency Vermont).
	2. Engage primary care providers, Adult Day Programs/Centers, Senior Centers, and Long-Term Care facilities to conduct annual falls risk assessment and environmental scans or surveys.
	3. Utilize timely healthcare utilization data to inform on rates of fall episodes, medication reconciliation, and Supervision Assessment.
	4. As noted above, VDH and Vermont's AAAs will add two evidence-based physical activity and strength training programs to their respective menus of evidence-based programming and conduct promotions via social media.
	5. Add and train on implementing the "Vermont Mini Cog Assessment" at all primary care visits for adults 50+.
	6. Implement the Stopping Elderly Accidents, Deaths and Injuries (STEADI) Initiative.
	7. Expand community-based falls prevention strategies including at Senior Centers.
	8. Explore how to invest in exercise facilities for older Vermonters, specifically for recreation centers that include indoor pool and workout equipment and programs that are open to people of all ages and could include Silver Sneakers and other Medicare Advantage programs.
	9. Provide training and increase access to geriatric ear, nose and throat care, balance and strength conditioning and heart health/brain health related medical and public health interventions that decrease risk for falls, heart disease and dementia.
	10. Promote referrals to the Vermont Association for the Blind and Visually Impaired for those who are visually impaired which can decrease risk of isolation, falls, lack of physical activity and healthy nutrition.
	11. Increase access to affordable electronic alert systems.
Healthy Aging for All	Prevent suicide among older Vermonters.
Objective 5	Strategies may include:

_	
	1. By 2025, train Meals on Wheels volunteers and SASH Coordinators to identify and support recipients and clients who are at risk of suicide through interventions such as ASIST or QPR and/or screenings using CSSRS and referrals for mental health support.
	Increase assessment of 'What Matters for Aging' and align care with individual's and
	care partner's preferences (including medication, mentation, mobility changes).
	3. Educate and provide intervention for firearm and poison control safety for older Vermonters and their families including safe storage, firearm safety training, and advance care planning that include firearms.
	4. To prevent physical and mental health problems, focus on measures to increase social interaction and connection, including exercise programs, screen and provide education and resources for suicide prevention among older residents, VTers with disabilities, vets, BIPOC, LGBTQ+ and/or are socially isolated.
	5. Create social hubs at schools, libraries, churches and other locations to increase social connection and engagement (see also "Social Connection is Key" strategies).
	6. Expand mental health supports in housing (through SASH wellness hours and other affordable housing programs) and other living situations (shelters, pods, group housing) and increase access to elder care clinician care.
	7. Continue to offer and expand telehealth services including in congregate settings for ensuring access to mental health services including for older Vermonters, those who live in rural areas, those who have a disability or lack transportation, and those who suffer from depression.
	8. Identify pathways for increasing investment in Elder Care Clinicians.
	9. By 2030, work to create "Men's Shed" model locations or a similar program to engage men in hands-on and social activities in more areas of the state.
	10. Include images of older Vermonters especially males in Zero to Suicide and other public health messaging regarding suicide prevention and treatment to help address stigma around asking for help.
	Social Connection is Key
Social Connection is Key	Increase awareness and identification of social isolation and loneliness among all older adults.
Objective 1	 Strategies may include: Conduct at least one targeted public awareness campaign per year, and ensure the campaign reaches historically marginalized populations.
	2. Increase the screening of social isolation and loneliness in primary care practices and long-term care facilities.
	 a. By 2026, identify one validated screening tool to disseminate; conduct a targeted education campaign for PCPs; and disseminate community resources to PCPs to increase referrals.
	3. Provide training and education about social isolation and loneliness to a broad range of organizations who interact with older Vermonters, including those working with historically marginalized communities.
Social Connection is Key	Increase the availability and accessibility of high-quality and equitable programming for older Vermonters.

Objective 2	Strategies may include:
	Modernize and support local centers and local community institutions to address the needs and desires of a changing demographic of older Vermonters, with a focus on high quality meals and equity and inclusion of underserved communities.
	2. Invest in senior centers, adult day centers and local community institutions via local, state and federal funding opportunities and through expanded community partnerships.
	3. Expand a diversity of programming at centers, local community institutions and long-term care facilities, such as creative aging with art, music, movement, intergenerational programs, lifelong learning, multicultural programs, virtual opportunities, etc.
	4. Increase engagement in centers and in community programs through outreach and innovative strategies such as a buddy system.
	5. Develop/increase local social groups for older adults like book clubs or craft nights as part of age-friendly communities.
	6. Create affordable access to telecommunications to maintain social interactions, communication with medical professionals, and others. This includes access to affordable equipment to benefit from wireless and/or internet access.
Social Connection is Key	Increase volunteerism of older Vermonters.
Objective 3	Strategies may include:
-	Strengthen Vermont's volunteer infrastructure to better recruit, support and retain older Vermonter volunteers:
	a. Promote volunteerism in connection with health/well-being and wisdom transfer.
	 b. Make it easy for people to find and apply for volunteer opportunities, such as through a statewide volunteer hub or clearinghouse.
	c. Train organizations to utilize the 10 best practices in volunteer management.
	d. Explore development of high value incentives for older Vermonters.
	e. Identify and address barriers to volunteering, especially transportation and ageism in recruitment.
Social Connection is Key	Objective 4: Increase the number of intergenerational engagement opportunities for all Vermonters.
Objective 1	Strategies may include:
	1. Encourage Vermont higher education institutions to join the Age Friendly University (AFU) Network. Encourage universities and colleges to respond creatively to the interests, needs, and desires of older adults, including expanding access to meet the needs of those who desire to take courses.
	2. Partner with the Agency of Education and local schools and colleges on workplace learning opportunities to engage more students in providing services, conducting research, and learning from older Vermonters.
	Leverage community partnerships to expand intergenerational opportunities.
	Research, promote and support innovative intergenerational models.

	Infrastructure for the Future
Infrastructure for	Increase the number of new units of high-quality affordable housing that enable
the Future Housing	residents to age well in community.
Objective 1	Strategies may include:
	Explore what it would take to expand Accessory Dwelling Unit incentives specifically
	targeted toward 60+ population, including bridge loans.
	2. Support the development of infill housing through zoning reforms, technical
	assistance to small-scale developers, and financial incentives in alignment with the Agency of Natural Resources and other state efforts. Suggested ideas for that work could include:
	a. Streamline Permits for Missing Middle Home Designs: Amend the statute to enable "by-right" permits for missing middle homes.
	b. Increase Downtown and Village Center Tax Credit Base Funding: Provide funding to improve homes in neighborhoods; expand eligibility to support energy efficiency investments.
	3. Identify opportunities to increase financial support to municipalities to expand water/wastewater infrastructure that is at or above the same level of ARPA funds that have been utilized to support this critical infrastructure to smart growth development.
	4. Prioritize state agency investment in infrastructure for economic development in state-designated settlement areas.
	5. Explore the idea of continuing the affordable rental property tax exemption (Act 68) with no renewal requirement.
	6. Assess the possibility of making permanent the policy of lifting of unit caps for Priority Housing Projects in Designated Downtowns, New Development Growth Areas, exempting these projects from Act 250 review.
	7. Enhance information and expand transparency on the shortfalls and availability of affordable housing by coordinating and promoting VHFA Directory of Affordable Rental Housing and DAIL's Assisted Living, Nursing Home and Residential Care database, and increase dissemination of COVE's informational resource, the "Aging in VT Resource Guide."
Infrastructure for	Increase age-specific housing available for older Vermonters.
the Future Housing	
Objective 2	Strategies may include:
	1. Assess the impact of removing the cap on tax credit housing for 55+ being built each year in VT (currently at 30% cap, which equates to a maximum of one property per year being built across the state).
	2. Explore an increase in state credits toward age-specific housing in key priority populations where demand is outpacing supply.

	3. Identify opportunities to create affordable dementia-focused housing that meets universal design standards and incorporates the person-centered Best Friends™ approach to memory loss to reduce the long waitlist for those with lower income looking for residential memory care.
Infrastructure for the Future Housing Objective 3	Increase the number of older adults who can "age in place" [which means choosing to remain at home or in a supportive living community as they grow older without having to move each time their needs increase]. Strategies may include:
	1. Keep the long-term care system viable and expand to provide older adults the care they need in the location of their choice.
	2. Support embedding 5 mental health clinicians within SASH panels every year for the next 5 years around the state to support those clients with mental health concerns, including those who were formerly homeless, in affordable housing communities, helping to keep them safely housed.
	3. Explore how to ensure that Medicaid reimbursement rates will meet actual costs by 2026 and will have an annual inflation factor increase established.
	4. Consider revising licensing regulations requiring every long-term care facility accept a minimum of 15% of those who are on Medicaid to prevent involuntary discharge due to income/asset depletion.
	5. Increase the investment for home and community-based services to substantially reduce the number of Vermonters living in hospitals and nursing homes with no alternative.
	6. Explore how to expand HomeShare programming by (1) providing a tax incentive to homeowners participating in state HomeShare programs that have made qualified matches for a minimum of one year; (2) sustain state funding to support HomeShare VT for expansion.
	7. Conduct an assessment and evaluation of the adult day centers closures to understand why they closed and identify where there is capacity for additional locations.
	8. Increase the accessibility of Vermont homes by exploring the idea of requiring all new construction to adhere to Universal Design Standards; and expand home modification programs, such as the homeownership centers, HUD home modification programs, and increasing VCIL funding for people living with a disability by 10% to ensure their home is accessible.
Infrastructure for	Focus future transit service on "Designated Growth Zones" (maximize
the Future Transportation	investment in concentrated development centers).
Objective 1	Strategies may include: 1. Ensure the State's Road Design Standards will be updated by the end of 2024, with emphasis on transit and mobility services to allow for age-friendly residency and access to services and amenities.
	2. Micro Transit Pilots: Assess the current 5 pilots and other mobility services to enhance multimodal options and use. On-demand services currently in place can be scaled to provide more trips for more purposes.
	3. Identify the potential to increase funding to support municipal multimodal networks, which includes bike, walk and modal sharing programs.

	4. Assess the required funding for communities to offer additional mobility services.
	5. Incorporate alternative transportation amenities including those serving individuals who cannot drive, in new developments that are subject to Act 250 jurisdiction.
Infrastructure for the Future Transportation Objective 2	Expand the Older Vermonters and Persons with a Disability (O&D) program. Strategies may include:
Objective 2	1. Allow clients or the general public to view and reserve seats on existing demand response trips. Once the new scheduling and dispatch software is implemented (FY 2025) for the demand response programs across the state, the Agency of Transportation (VTrans) can work to develop this feature to be incorporated into the existing GO! Vermont Trip Planner.
	2. Engage with Primary Care Physicians to ask questions to older Vermonters about transportation needs and provide contact info for GO! Vermont and local transit providers.
	3. Raise awareness about the O&D Program through targeted outreach:
	a. Start Statewide Ambassador Programs that includes travel training (tech and non-tech based) so older Vermonters can become familiar with the Public Transit System before they cannot drive or driving becomes limited.
	4. Create Personal Mobility Accounts:
	 a. Offer freedom accounts (capped dollar value) to allow transportation for personal/social trips to reduce social isolation.
	b. Expand the network of volunteers or low-cost transportation options for direct pay trips for older Vermonters.
	5. Create an ongoing Transportation Council (Mobility for All Vermonters that coordinates with all state agencies). Convert Public Transit Advisory Council to a "Mobility Council" and add Agency of Human Services departments and advocacy organizations representation to the membership to create viable and coordinated solutions to enhance statewide mobility for all Vermonters.
	6. Build and sustain leadership, collaboration, and accountability, especially among a diverse group of stakeholders to include transportation professionals, policymakers, public health officials, police, and community members that manage Vision Zero Implementation. This body is responsible for collecting, analyzing, and using data to understand trends and potential disproportionate impacts of traffic deaths on certain populations.
	7. Require all new development to ensure bus stop amenities are considered in review and permitting for construction of housing developments, commercial space, and repaving of roads.
Infrastructure for the Future Transportation Objective 3	Transportation Objective 4: Increase access to walkable, bikeable and transit friendly communities that facilitate independence and support aging in place. Strategies may include:
	1. Revisit Vermont's Complete Streets statute which was enacted by the General Assembly of the State of Vermont in 2011 to address the lack of reporting transparency and ownership that have led to missed opportunities for implementing a strong, safe, accessible transportation system.

	2. Incorporate a system-wide planning approach for all Complete Streets projects that allows for safe access to all users and provides for first and last mile connections.
	3. Invest in building municipal capacity through Complete Streets training that will allow smaller communities the ability to implement Complete Streets at the local level.
	4. Assess the opportunity to modify the state's project selection criteria for funding to encourage Complete Streets implementation. Criteria for determining the ranking of projects should include assigning weight for active transportation infrastructure; targeting underserved communities; alleviating disparities in health, safety, economic benefit, access destinations; and creating better multimodal network connectivity for all users.
	5. Review community centers to be sure they have safe sidewalks with little to no transitions, and easy clear access to amenities.
	6. Encourage statewide adoption of a "Vision Zero" policy to ensure safe, equitable mobility for all road users by eliminating traffic fatalities and severe injuries among all road users.
	7. Prioritize safe speeds through safe street design, speed enforcement (or safety cameras), and allow communities to set safe speed limits including 25 MPH in congested areas and adjacent to public amenities.
Infrastructure for the Future	Increase the availability of accessible, inclusive public spaces (indoor and outdoor) in towns by encouraging Smart Growth and infill development.
Community	
Design Objective	Strategies may include:
	1. Explore removing the statutory sunset for Better Places and providing base funding to sustain the program at the Department of Housing and Community Development (DHCD).
	2. Support sustaining funding for Better Connections program at the Department for Housing and Community Development (DHCD).
	3. Assess expanding the Downtown Transportation Fund by updating the statute to support the planning, design, and construction of 'complete streets.'
	4. Potentially provide funding to municipalities for technical assistance and design expertise needed to engage, plan, and construct well-designed, welcoming, and accessible public places.
	5. Create recommended standards for communities to apply to outdoor public spaces and parks to ensure they are fully accessible and inclusive to people of all ages, abilities, and backgrounds including for Vermonters with dementia and their care partners.
	6. Ensure key services, multigenerational programming, and amenities are supported in town focal points, such as libraries, senior community centers, libraries, adult day programs, health care satellite offices, town hall and transfer stations.
	7. Allocate funding to study the implementation of a land value tax to encourage
	development in designated areas, promote land use efficiency, and ensure equitable taxation in partnership with the Tax Department.

	9. Enforce municipalities to develop their town ADA Transition Plan (a federal requirement), to address any deficiencies. The Plan is intended to achieve the following: (1) identify physical obstacles that limit the accessibility of facilities to individuals with disabilities, (2) describe the methods to be used to make the facilities accessible, (3) provide a schedule for making the access modifications, and (4) identify the public officials responsible for implementation of the Transition Plan.				
	Valuing Family Care Partners				
Valuing Family	variating ratinity care ratificis				
Care Partners Objective 1	Reduce the need for family/friends to provide full-time care/assistance to a friend/family member.				
Valuing Family Care Partners Objective 2	Increase family care partner knowledge of respite options.				
Valuing Family Care Partners Objective 3	Increase family care partner knowledge of self-care, medical benefits, long-term care and estate planning resources.				
Valuing Family Care Partners	Reduce negative financial impacts on family care partners.				
Objective 4	Strategies may include:				
	1. In 2024-2034, work to increase financial supports for family care partners, including respite funding, family leave options, tax credits, stipends, and grants.				
	2. In 2024-2028, work to increase awareness of and access to respite services (ex. Inhome volunteers) for care partners using public outreach campaigns, social media, Front Porch Forum, and agency communications and websites.				
	3. In 2024-2028, work to expand and add family care partner education programs that include training opportunities, information on self-care, medical benefits, long term care and estate planning, and medical conditions.				
	4. By 2027, compile a statewide inventory of existing resources and programs for family care partners. This inventory will be used to create a care partner support locator function care partners can use to quickly locate the services they need in their area.				
	5. By 2025, adopt standardized, evidence-based or evidence-informed family care partner assessments and use the results to develop person-centered and family-centered care plans.				
	6. By 2026, establish and routinely convene a VT Caregiver Coalition to improve the system of HCBS and health care providers by encouraging the use of standardized data-collection tools, forms, definitions of terms, and best practices.				
	7. In 2024-2028, support the expansion of Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Extended Engagement/Respite activities within Adult Day and Senior/Community Centers.				
	8. By 2025, develop or adopt surveys with validated questions to disseminate to family care partners to collect data on services and supports to identify successes and areas for improvement.				

	 9. By 2026, professionally translate Advance Directives in plain language in the languages prioritized in Vermont and provide culturally appropriate interpreters in hospital, home health, and hospice settings. 10. By 2027, provide education to hospital leadership and the Vermont Association of Hospitals and Health Systems encouraging adoption of policies that enable in-person interpreters of the family's choice to be used during in-patient and end-of-life care. 				
	11. By 2026, provide education to hospice providers on providing culturally proficient services specific to the different cultures present in Vermont, and to families that speak languages other than English on what hospice is, what it provides, and how it differs from hospital care.				
	The Fight for Justice				
The Fight for Justice Objective 1	Increase the adoption and use of recommended policies and interventions to support adults who may be self-neglecting. Strategies may include:				
Objective 1	1. DAIL and community partners will work to establish and expand training modules for a wide range of community-based service providers and partners to identify and report self-neglect and elder abuse, including appropriate referrals, trauma-informed communications, and systems of support.				
The Fight for Justice	Increase the transparency and usability of long-term care facility data.				
Objective 2	Strategies may include:				
	1. By 2028, establish a digital data system to compile Survey and Certification survey results into a data interface that can allow for trend analysis across multiple reports for system improvement. By 2030 this same data will be available to the public in a readily accessible, plain language format, that allows older adults and family members to make informed decisions.				
The Fight for Justice Objective 3	Objective 3: Increase coordination of elder justice services and supports. Strategies may include:				
Objective 5	A non-state entity will work to facilitate an Elder Justice Coalition (EJC) to coordinate among EMS and law enforcement providers, state entities, and social support providers.				
	2. The EJC may recommend to the legislature strategies to mandate some allocation of Attorney General litigation awards to delivery of relevant elder justice information and services.				
	3. Work to convene an Office of Public Safety advisory team to assess and recommend best practices for "no wrong door" portals for elder justice referrals to ensure safety and access. Advocate for safety portals to be universally established across entities and providers to improve elder access to justice services. The Office of Public Safety Advisory team may review data reported by designated entities annually and make recommendations for improvement to the system.				
	4. Elder Justice Providers will work to develop and coordinate for older adults, service providers, and family members: communications strategies, educational materials and presentations, referral systems, and protections that address the growing incidence of scam, fraud, and financial exploitation.				

	a. Coordinated efforts will be person centered and trauma informed.
	Strengthening Systems of Support
Strongthoning	
Strengthening Systems of	Adopt age-friendly best practices at VT211 and AAA Helpline call centers.
Support	
Objective 1	Strategies may include: 1. The State will contract with an independent entity to assess the current state of
	Vermont's AAA and VT211 Information, Referral and Assistance call centers, and provide
	concrete recommendations on the adequacy and accessibility of the information available
	to Vermonters, including criminal, civil, and social interventions specific to older adults to ensure safety, information about death and dying, and information about transitions of
	care.
	2. Using the independent entity in #1, create or recommend an existing set of call center best practices, training and recommended staffing ratios using a "No Wrong Door" approach.
Strengthening	
Systems of Support	Increase access to information about age-friendly resources and supports.
Objective 2	
Strengthening	Increase access to a coordinated system of age-friendly services, supports and
Systems of	protections.
Support Objective 3	Strategies may include:
- 2,0000	The State will work to contract with a professional entity to use data from the Age
	Strong VT planning process (survey, listening sessions, focus groups) to:
	a. Develop a sustainable, creative plan for marketing and promotion for Vermont's Information, Referral and Assistance systems across the state, that complies with
	communication access and diversity, equity and inclusion standards and includes measurable outcomes. Creation of the promotion plan must include the VDH
	community health education network and provider of services network.

	b. Create a sustainable online Vermont educational awareness training tool for					
	Vermonters, entities, providers, EMS workers and state employees to learn about the					
	system of Information, Referral and Assistance.					
	System of information, referral and rissistance.					
	c. Work with the State to designate qualified individuals or entities to					
	deliver/maintain the promotion plan and training tool and track measurable					
	outcomes.					
	2. The State and information providers will work together to establish data on distribution					
	and utilization of publicly available information sources (AGO Help Guide, Aging in					
	Vermont Resource Guide, AAA Helpline, VT211, State websites) regarding abuse, neglect,					
	and exploitation of older adults.					
	3. Establish or identify additional data sources for tracking outcomes specific to the three					
	recommended objectives, such as:					
	·					
	 a. Z-Codes – ICD10 codes to identify screening and referrals for social determinants of health-related services. 					
	b.Provider referrals – Develop a way for call centers to track where referrals came					
	from over time.					
	c. New State Plan on Aging (SPA) Needs Assessment questions. (Data Source: 2020,					
	2024 and 2028 SPA Needs Assessments)					
	d. Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) questions.					
	4. Consider the creation of Chief Advocate for Elder Justice position to work with the					
	dedicated Age Strong VT position to:					
	a. Integrate information across state and community systems to ensure consistent					
	and accurate information.					
	b. Advise the state legislature and administration to improve elder access to justice,					
	safety, and supports.					
	c. Review new and existing laws to ensure age equity across systems.					
	d. Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) questions.					
Strengthening	Increase the availability of safe emergency housing for older Vermonters.					
Systems of	increase the availability of safe emergency flousing for older verificities.					
Support	Charles in a many includes					
Objective 4	Strategies may include:					
	1. By 2025, DAIL and partners will explore existing models in other states and make					
	recommendations that address Vermont needs and systems for emergency housing for					
	older victims of crime or others in crisis. DAIL will work to identify funding streams and potential partners to pilot the program.					
	2. By 2028, explore the creation of a pilot program for emergency housing for older					
	victims of crime and others in crisis with established policies, protocols, goals, and					
	adequate funding for 5 beds, with the possibility for growth in the future. The pilot					
	program could address immediate physical safety, as well as assisting with longer term					
	needs such as future safe housing placement, trauma processing and mental health					
	needs, system of care planning, etc.					
	1					



E. BAC interim Actions

- i. HomeShare pilot
- ii. Family Caregiver Month Proclamation

E.i. HomeShare Vermont Pilot Incentive Program

Date: June 22, 2022

To: Community Development & Neighborhood Revitalization

(CDNR) Committee From: Burlington Aging Council's

Subcommittee on Housing

Molly Dugan, Cathedral Square

Charles J. Messing, Burlington Resident

Brian Pine, City of Burlington's Community and Economic

Development Office Kelly Stoddard Poor, AARP VT

Subject: HomeShare Vermont Pilot Incentive Program

On behalf of the Burlington Aging Council we are submitting a proposal for consideration by City Councilors serving on the CDNR Committee. The proposal we are asking the CDNR Committee to review and advance is a HomeShare Pilot Program aimed at supporting and promoting homesharing in Burlington through a tax incentive.

HomeShare Background: HomeShare Vermont is a non-profit organization that has developed a comprehensive and client-driven screening & matching process over the past 40 years to make the best in-home matches possible. HomeShare Vermont helps the State of Vermont meet two important goals by assisting our aging neighbors to stay at home, where they want to be, while at the same time helping others find an affordable place to live.

While there are no age or income restrictions for homesharing, most people sharing their homes (homeshare hosts) are elders or persons with a disability while most people looking for housing (homeshare guests) can't afford market rents. Their screening process focuses on safety and security. Each compatible match is unique and based upon the interests, needs, and lifestyles of the individuals involved. Homesharing is where two or more people share a home for mutual benefit.

HomeShare Screening Process: For each application received a minimum of 3 reference checks are performed, mostly by phone; and five different background checks are conducted before the person is considered for matching. The background checks include various criminal, abuse and fraud registries. Once the application is received an in-depth interview is conducted in order to get to know them and their interests and lifestyle, which is done via zoom or in a home visit.

Benefits of HomeShare in FY 21:

- Homeshare guests provided approximately 25,000 hours of assistance to seniors and others. This represents a savings of over \$380,000 for those sharing their home and their families if they had to hire help.¹
- By sharing their homes, low-income seniors and others received over \$220,000 in rental income to help them make ends meet.

¹ Calculation based on personal care assistant median wage - Bureau of Labor Statistics, VT State Occupation & Employment Wage Estimates

• The average rent in a homesharing match was only \$323/month with 27% of matches paying \$0 rent. Using the difference between market rents and homeshare actual rents, it is estimated that homeshare guests saved over \$510,000 in rental expenses.²

HomeShare Match Length: The average homesharing match length was about 23 months this past year, which is a little longer than normal, which is likely a reflection of COVID because it has made it harder to get people to start new matches, but it seems to have encouraged matches to last a little longer. The average match length is calculated each year based on the matches that ended in that year and it typically fluctuates between 13-20 months.

FY 21 HomeShare Vermont:

Results Based Accountability (RBA) Outcomes

This data is a combination of annual outcomes surveys of matched participants and client data and represents outcomes statewide and are not specific to Burlington alone.

	Homeshare Average Match Length	692 days or 23 months				
How Well?	Participant Satisfaction	93% very satisfied 100% would recommend us to family or friends				
Is Anyone Better off?	Affordability of Housing	Average Rent	\$323			
	Ability of Seniors to Stay Safely at Home	46% of those sharing their home reported they would not be able to live safely and comfortably at home without a homesharer.				
		Feel Happier	83%			
	Improved Quality of Life: Those	Feel Less Lonely	83%			
	having someone live with them report they	Feel Safer in their Home	81%			
	report tricy	Sleep Better	51%			
		Feel Healthier	51%			

Pilot Program Incentive Program:

A Pilot Incentive Program would be aimed to support affordable housing and open up housing opportunities for those seeking housing in Burlington. The Burlington Aging Council (BAC) supports and recommends that the City of Burlington offer a pilot incentive program for homeowners, "host," who provides a <u>new</u> homeshare match lasting a minimum of 12 months.

- The incentive would be in the amount of \$1,000 (this is in line with other incentive programs found throughout the country)
- The incentive would not exceed 30 Burlington homeowners per year

² Calculation based on fair markets rents for Addison, Chittenden, Franklin, Grand Isle, Lamoille, Orange and Washington Counties - US Department of Housing & Urban Development

- The \$1,000 incentive from the City of Burlington could be made available through property tax relief or another type of direct payment to the homeowner determined by councilors.
- The incentive would be made available after the homeshare match was verified by HomeShare Vermont after the 12 months.
- The homesharing match would be required to be created by, Home Share Vermont, a bonafide homesharing nonprofit organization and has a homesharing agreement signed by both the host and guest and they cannot be related individuals.
- An additional requirement of the Pilot Program would be a cap on rents at a maximum of \$650/month, given the goal of promoting affordable housing.
- The pilot program would be tested for 3 years and evaluated to determine continuation.

HomeShare Vermont Client Data FY 15 - FY 21 (July 1 - June 30 FY)

There is a mismatch in the number of people seeking housing in Burlington vs. the number of homeownershomeshare hosts opening their home up for homesharing, see graph below. Burlington host applications have dropped more than their total host applications this past year (59% vs 44%). The overall decline is due to COVID but it is unclear as to why Burlington is so much higher.

		FY 15	FY 16	FY 17	FY 18	FY 19	FY 20	FY 21
Applications	All Hosts	85	103	85	98	121	167	93
	Burlington Hosts*	9	16	13	16	18	17	7
	Guests	206	261	319	324	331	363	342
	Total	291	364	404	422	452	530	435
Ratio Guests/Hosts Applications		2.4	2.5	3.7	3.3	2.7	2.1	3.6
Total Matches in Year		82	87	98	105	101	108	92
Matched Burlington Hosts		28	20	22	29	28	24	18
All Persons in	a Match	154	159	183	198	202	216	191
Average Mate	ch Length (months)	13	14	18	16	12	20	23
Average Monthly Rent		\$226	\$221	\$254	\$287	\$296	\$314	\$323

E.ii. Family Caregiver Month 2023 Proclamation



PROCLAMATION

WHEREAS, this November, in Burlington, we recognize the countless family caregivers across our state who are helping their older parents, spouses and other loved ones live independently in their homes – where they want to be and where their well-being is supported; and

WHEREAS, Burlington's family caregivers are among 48 million Americans nationwide who are being recognized in November, National Family Caregiver Month. These individuals hold up a challenged long-term care system. The physical, financial and emotional toll on them is great. They help their loved ones with everything from managing medications and medical care, meal preparation and feeding, bathing and dressing, chores, finances, grocery shopping, transportation and more. Many family caregivers work full or part time at paying jobs, and many cut back their hours or quit their jobs entirely to make sure their loved one gets the care they need; and

WHEREAS, Burlington's dedicated family caregivers provide thousands of hours of care every year, adding up to millions of dollars in unpaid labor annually; and

WHEREAS, family caregivers deserve our gratitude, but they also need commonsense solutions that save them time and money and provide support. I am proud of the work that the Burlington Aging Council and partner organizations do to advance and support the critical role of family caregivers; and

WHEREAS, everyday heroes, family caregivers in Burlington help their older parents, spouses, siblings, or grandparents live independently with dignity; and

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Miro Weinberger, Mayor of the City of Burlington, by virtue of the authority vested in me by the Charter of the City of Burlington, Vermont do hereby proclaim November 2023 as

FAMILY CAREGIVER MONTH

in the City of Burlington, and BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that I encourage all Burlingtonians to reach out to the family caregivers in their lives, thank them for the incredibly important work they do and support them in any way that you can.

Miro Weinberger

Mayor